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1 MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, I think it is tme for the shorthand
2 writers’ break.
3 MR]JUSTICE WARBY: Yes, good time fora break. Ten minutes.
4 (332 pm)
5 (Short Break)
6 (3.40 pm)
7 MRMILLAR: I call Christopher Steele.
B SIR CHRISTOPHER STEELE (sworn)
9§ MRJUSTICE WARBY: Thank you, Mr Steele. Do take a seat in
10 the witness box.
11 A. Thankyou.
12 Examination-in-chief by MR MILLAR
13 MRMILLAR: MrSteele, we have -- you have a bundle of
14 witness statements there, T think. We have a bundle of
15 witness statements -- a collection of witness statements
16 in trial bundleC. At tab 4, andI hope yours
1 corresponds, is something described as, "Revised first
1B witness statement of Christopher Steele” [C/4/1), which
138 runs to 30 pages and has a signature at the end of it
20 and Is dated 9 March 2020 (C/4/30].
21 A Yes.
22 Q. Doyouremember signing that witness statement?
23 A Ido.
24 Q. Is that your signature?
25 A Ttis.
145
1 Q. Didyousign it on9 March?
2 A 1did.
3 Q. Andarethe facts stated in that witness statement true
4 to the best of your knowledge and belief?
5 A. Theyare.
6 Q. Wehave, at tab 5, something described as a supplemental
7 witness statement of yours.
B A, Mmhmm,
S Q. Doyouhavethat? [C/5/1]
10 A Ido.
11 Q. Thatrunsto three pages, signed on 15 March. Is that
12 your signature and do you recall signing it? (C/5/3)
13 A It is andI do.
14 Q. Andto the best of your knowledge and belief, are the
15 facts in that witness statement, which was a correcting
18 witness statement, true?
17 A, Yes.
1 Q. Thankyou. Thereis also a third witness statement,
19 which is the one we've just been discussing in the
20 application. Do you have a copy of that? (C/7/1]
21 A Ido.
22 Q. Dared 16 March, yesterday, and signed. Is that your
23 signature on page 47 [C/7/4}
24 A Itis.
25 Q. Again, are the facts stated In that witness statement
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true to the best of your knowledge and belief?

A, Theyare.

MRMILLAR: Tharkyou. You will be cross-examined now.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes, Mr Tomlinson.

Cross-examination by MR TOMLINSON

MR TOMLINSON: Mr Steele, you were a former intelligence
officer working for the British Government between 15987
and 2009; is that correct?

A. 1 wasa Crown servantand I wasin the diplomatic
service between those dates.

Q. MrSteele, onyour company’s website you describe
yourself as a former intelligence officer. Why won't
youdo it in the witness box?

A. 1 think I describe myself as a former intelligence
professional .

Q. Well, do youwant to have a lock at your -- it's at
(D/146/1), please,

A. Mmhmm.

Q. If we godown tothe next page [D/146/2]. The next one

(D/146/3). Then we have-- It maybe difficult to read
-- two “former British intelligence professionals "
. That's correct.

=

Q. What'san intelligence professional, Mr Steele?
A. It's somebody who has worked on intelligence in

government.
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o

. But you formally worked for MI6, didn"t you?

A. I'mnotin a position, my Lordship, to confirm or deny
that,

Q. What inhibition do yousay there Is on you confirming or
denying it, Mr Steele?

A. The government has a pelicy of non-avowal or otherwise

of intelligence officers who work for the security

services.

Could you now answer the question, please?

I just have.

Q. There Is no statutery inhibition on you answering that

E =]

question, as you know,

A. My understanding is that I"m not permitted to answer
that question.

Q. Onwhatbasis does that understanding rest, Mr Steele?

A. The policy of the government is to not avow or otherwise
intelligence  officers who have worked for the security
services.

Q. Yousee, your former boss, Sir John Scarlett, in his
online blography has described his whole career at MI6
and ending up as the head at the time I think you were
working there. Do you know that?

A. Therels an exception for the chief of MI6 only, in my
understanding,

Q. Well, MrSteele, your whole business is trading on your
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former role as an MI6 officer, Isn't 1t? That's what
your business is about?

It's not. It's trading on my expertise on Russia and my
partners’ expertise on other parts of the woerld.
Gained when you worked for MI&?

It doesn't say anything about MI6 on our website or our
other material.

You say in your witness statement you have had 22 years'
experience working in the field. What do you mean by
that?

It means working abroad and cutside of London,
basically .

You worked for -- you lived in Moscow for three years
frem 1990 to 1993; correct?

Correct.

I think you were the second secretary, Chancery, at the
British Embassy at that time?

1 was third secretary and then became second secretary
during the posting.

Was that the last time you lived In Russia?

Lived in Russia?

Lived in Russia, Mr Steele?

Yes, that wasthe last time I lived In Russia, yes.
19937

Yes.
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27 years ago?

Mm hmm.

From 1993 to 1998 you were based in London dolng

a training job, weren't you?

I'm not permitted to answer that question.

You ran the intelligence officers * new entry course in
Hampshire for five years?

I'm not permitted to answer that question, ["m afraid,
your Lordship.

That's not workingin the field, is it, Mr-- ch, this
is outside London;is that whyit's in the field?

As I've sald, I'mnotpermitted to answer that question,
your Lordship,

What field were you working in berween those years?

I cannot answer that question.

You then worked in the British Embassy in Paris.

1 did.

Were you working on Russia and CIS matters there?
Again, T am not permitted to discuss that,

your Lordship,

The reality Is, your 22 years working in the fleld
involved at least nine years working on completely
different matters from Russia and the CIS, didn't it?
Again, I cannctanswer that question, your Lordship.
Well, in due course, Mr Steele, we'll seek -- I'1l seek
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a ruling from his Lordshlp, because there's no
inhibition whatever on you answering those questions,
1 suggest.

1 disagree.

Butyoucan't tell mewhatit is, apart from government
policy?

I have been told at the point whenI left government
service and during government service that I'm not
permitted te discuss the specifics of my role in
government or my jobs in government outside of
government, your Lordship.

‘What was your final grade in the civil service.

Mr Steele?

Senior management assistant,

‘Was that grade 77

No, it's the equivalent of councillor. So it depends
how you grade it.

You weren't part of the senior civil service?

I was senior management system of the civil service.
‘When was the last time you visited Russia?

I can only say, my Lordship, that T haven't visited
Russia since I left government service in 2009.

So that’s 11 years age?

That's correct.

You set up your current business with Mr Burrows
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in 2009. Then, according to your witness statement,
since then you have worked as -- your words --
a natlonal security professicnal. Is that your
evidence?
That has been one of my roles, yes.
Well, that’s not -- yousay in your witness statement,
paragraph 4 (C/4/2):

".. since then as a national security
professional "
That's correct.
Well, youdon't have any official function of any kind,
do you?
No, but I have worked as a contractor for the FBI and
for parts of the British Government over that period.
According to your web site, you provide strategic
advice, mount Intelligence gathering operations and
conduet complex, often cross-border, investigations; is
that correct?
That's correct.
Corporate intelligence ?
Amongst other things, yes.
I mean, you're a private investigator; that's you're
Jjeb, isn’t it?
I'ma private investigator who has government clients.
You're not a national securlty professional at all?

152

Opus 2 International
Official Court Reporters

transcripts@opus2.com
+44 (0)20 3008 5900



March 17, 2020

Petr Aven, Mikhail Fridman and [...] Business Int

gence Limited Day 2

W~ U W

P
H o o

13
14
15
16
17
18
18
20
21

23
24
25

PP
H O WwWom-=-]ou ke W

B
(RN}

R e e
H O W o~ Wum&

3
(¥

(SIS
[E ]

=

Pror

The government clients task us on national security
issues, my Lordship.

One of your selling points is that you have a network of
sources; is that right?

Yes.

But those are sources that don’t come from your time at
MI6; correct?

They don’t come from my time as a Crown servant,

your Lordship.

So those are sources that you have developed since 20097
That is correct.

So your Russian sources are developed at a time when you
have not actually visited the country?

That is correct.

So you have not been in a position to go to Russia to0
meet sources in Russia or to check out they are who they
say they are?

1 have not personally beento Russia. It doesn't mean
I have been unable to meet Russian sources or to recruit
Russian sources outside of Russia.

But you haven't been able personally to go to Russia to
cultivate sources, you have to rely on other people;
correct?

ns travel outside of Russia.
So the Russians you deal with are ones who you meet in

No, because Rus
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London or In other non-Russian venues?
Tends to be the case, yes.
I now want to come to the events of 2016.

1 understand your position, you have no contemporaneous
notes or emails, save for your notes of interactions
with the FBL; is that right?

1 believe that is true, yes.

1 mean, the Hushmail account that you used to
communicate with Fusion was deleted sometime in

early 2017; correct?

I believe it was December 2016, actually.

The evidence, I think, is that the Hushmail account was
deleted three weeks after Its last use.

I thought it was two weeks, but I concede you may be
right, three weeks, I'm pretty sure it's two weeks
after.

And all the email traffic relating to the Fusion
assignment was deleted on 5 January 20177

That's on the Orbls server, as opposed to the Hushmail,
Yes.

Yes.

So when you give evidence about these matters, you are
relying entirely on your memory?

Yes, and also memories of others I was working with at
the time.
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Well, you don’t mention any reliance on their memorles
in your witness statement.

That's true, but obviously with my colleagues and so on
we discussed these matters.

So If someone else has contemporaneous records, you're
not in a position to disagree with them because you
don't have your own?

That is correct.

We're now talking about events of three anda half years
ago.

Indeed we are.

So let's begin with your engagement with -- the
engagement of Orbis by Fusion. How did that take place?
For this particular project?

Yes.

I had a conversation with one of the directors of
Fusion, Glenn Simpson, at Heathrow Airport in May 2016
and that was followed up by a phone call from him,
probably a week later, engaging us on this project.

So when you say at paragraph 14 of your witness
statement: [C/4/3)

"Orbis was engaged via a telephone Instruction
communicated by one of Fusion's founders, Mr Glenn
Simpson, to mein late May 2016."

That post-dates the meeting at Carluccio’s at

155

Heathrow Alrport, does it?

Obviously he went back to clear his ground with his --
presumably his cllents and also his colleagues before
formalising the engagement.

And you say formalising the engagement. Was there

a written contract?

There was an oral contract.

‘What were the terms of that oral contract?

‘The terms of the oral contract were the same as previous
oral contracts we had had with Fusion and, In

particular, covered by a confidentiality agreement that
we had signed five or six years earlier with MrSimpson.
Tell me the words that you remember being used 10
conclude the contract, Mr Steele.

The words that were used were simply that we were to
collect Intelligence from our sources on Trump-Russia
issues and interference in the US presidential campaign
which would befed to a client of Fusion, which was

a law firm, Washingron-based.

That was it?

And that it was covered by the confidentiality agreement
that we had signed previcusly.

No discussion about money?

There was an initial one-month engagement on a retainer
of £20,000.
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Any more terms of the contract?

Not that 1 can think of particularly .

You mentioned a Washingron law firm.

Yes.

When did you learn the identity of that law firm?

In late July 2016, although I can't say the exact date.
But you knew that that law firm wasn't the ultimate
client?

I -- yes, I did know there wasa client -- the law firm
itself hada client. That's right.

I mean, had you worked for Perkins Coie before on the
obtaining of intelligence in relation to political
matters?

No.

Directly or indirectly through Fusion?

No.

Did you know that what they did was obtain reports in

a privileged setting which they then used for
campalgning purposes?

When I found --

For their clients?

Obviously at the outset I didn't know it was

Perkins Cole. WhenIfound out it was Perkins Coie,

I looked up obviously the website of the company prior
to meeting them and ascertained their role, or likely

157

role.

They effectively work as the legal arm of the Democratic
Party, de youknow that?

Oncel had read their website and met them, yes.

And they gather -- they instruct investigators to obtain
material about political opponentsina privileged
setting so it can then be used for campaigning by the
Democratic Party, Did you know that?

That was not how it was represented to me.

How was It represented to you?

They wanted to obtain information and they wanted to
monitor irregularities in the election campaign.
Where do you deal with that In your witness statement?
It's not in there.

Is that -- so that's another of those -- you have
remembered, three and a half years after the event, you
have remembered another relevant fact. Is that the
position, Mr Steele?

I didn’t record In my witness statement, your Lordship,
every single thing that was said to me at every moment
during this contract, this project.

But you did recall In your witness statement that you
had looked at the website and formed the view that they
were going to use this information for the purposes of
legal advice?
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I established that Mark Elias was one of the foremost
election litigators in the United States.

When did you establish that, Mr Steele?

By looking at the web -

When? When did you establish it?

Well, in late July whenIbecame aware that Perkins Coie
was the client of Fusion.

But you didn’t meet Mr Elias at that time?

Mr Elias was in an adjacent room the first time

I visited Perkins Coie, on 29 July, I believe, 2016.
When did you first remember that?

It’s always been the case.

It’s not In your witness statement. It's not in your
first witness statement, is it?

It has always been the case that he was in an adjacent
room.

Let me ask you the question again.

Yes.

It's not in your first witness statement, Is it?

It's not in my first witness statement.

According to your first wimness statement, you first met
Mr Elias in September; correct?

Direct --

11 September?

Directly methim, yes. Not-- in fact, it's
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23 September, the first time 1 physically methimin
person.
And In that witness statement you say that he gave you
his business card?
That's true, yes.
Then you looked him up on the internet?
No, 1 had already looked him up on the internet. I had
taken a look at all the firm's website.
So -- well, let's look at your wimess statcment about
this. I think it is paragraph 19 [C/4/4). This is your
original evidence about meeting Mr Elias:

“He .. told me that he wasa partner of
Perkins Coie and his business card made reference to the
same. In light of the context ."

Sorry, yes, the third line, it says:
I subsequently ascertained from the firm's

website was chair of its Pelitical Law Practice .
So that's wrong, is it? It's not subsequent to your

meeting with Mr Elias?

As soon as -- as soonas I found out that Perkins Ceie

were the ultimate client -- sorry, not the ultimate

client -- Fusicn's client, I looked at their website.

So what's this evidence doing here in paragraph 197 Can

you explain that?

‘Well, whenImethim, Mr Elias, finally , in September,
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and he gave me his card, I obviously then looked at him
in particular on the website.

So you're saying you looked at him on the website twice?
I looked -- Inidally , whenIfound out Perkins Coie
were the client, 1 obviously looked at the website, and
then I subsequently revisited their website after that
several times, and In particular after I metMr Elias

1 locked again at his entry.

So yousay in your witness statement, at paragraph 16
(C/4/4), that you satisfied yourself as to the
trustworthiness of both Fusion and Perkins Coie. Now,
you had worked with Fusion for some years by this stage?
Yes.

So presumably you trusted them?

Correct.

How did you satisfy yourself of the trustworthiness of
Perkins Coie, Mr Steele?

Through Fusion and the fact that Fusion had previously
worked with Perkins Cole.

So you thought that was -- is that how you would work
out whether someone is trustworthy or not?

I also asked -- sorry, the answeris yes, but I also
answered - sorry, I also asked a couple of my legal
clients in the UK who were aware of Perkins Coie as to
whether they were a decent, respectable law firm.

161

You don’t mention that in your witness statement.

Not everything is in my-- I den’t, no, but not
everything Is in the witness statement.

You say in that paragraph, 16, that you didn't ask
Fusion about the identity of its ultimate client.

Mm hmm.

And I think -- is it your evidence you never asked about
the identity of the ultimate client?

I was told at one point who the ultimate client was,
later on. I don't think I pressed them with a question.
I mean,in fact, weknow thatyou knew the identity of
the ultimate client by early July 2016, don't we?

1 was not aware of the ultimate client in the sense that
the DNC,I believe, was the ultimate client.
it was the Clinton campaign, and Glenn Simpson had
indicated that, but I was not aware of the technicality
of it being the DNC that was actually the client of
Perkins Cole.

So, just tell me, in early July, whowereyou-- whodid

1 presumed

you think the ultimate client was?

I thought it was the campaign, but I didn’t know
technically who it was.

You knew it was the leadership of the Clinton
presidential campaign, didn't you?

I belleved It wasthe campalgn, yes.
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Theleadership of the Clinton campaign?

Fine, the leadership of the campaign.

And you also understood that Hillary Clinton herself was
aware of what you were doing?

I think Glenn had mentioned it, but I wasn't clear.

You see, you know what I'm referring to, Mr Steele,

don't you? Your own note of your meeting --

Yes,

-- ar (D/55.1/1}.

‘With the FBI, yeah. Yes.

‘Where you say, you record, yourself -- I mean, it"s your
note so we assume it is accurate.

Yes.

In paragraph 3:

".. we explained that Glenn Simpson, GPSFusion was
our commissioner but the ultimate client were the
leadership of the Clinton presidential campaign and that
we understood the candidate herself was aware of the
reporting at least, if notus .°
Yeah.

So a political campaign had commissioned research into
its opponent. You had no idea as to whether ornot that
was going to be used for political campaigning purposes,
legal purposes or some other purpose, did you?

I wasn't certain, altheugh there were no indications
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that it was going to be used for campaigning purposes.
And there were no indications it was going to be used
for legal purposes either, were there, Mr Steele?

At that stage, given that I didn't know who the
Perkins Coie firm were, no: but, later, whenImetthem,
it became clear to me that our reporting wasn't,

your Lordship, being used in the campaign itself.

How did that become clear?

Because they never deployed any of it in the campalgn.
No, they went-- they hawked it round every journalist

in Washington, Mr Steele, didn't they?

Perkins Cole?

No, Fusion, at Perkins Cole's request, gave your
material to a whole host of journalists, didn't they?
Could you -- when you say gave my material, could you
expand on that?

Well, you attended -- when you went to Washington on
21 September, there was a whole range of meetings
arranged by Mr Simpsen with you and journallsts, wasn't
there?

Yes, there was.

And you gave presentations -- youdidn't -- I'mnot
suggesting you gave physical copies of your memorandum,
but you gave presentations to the journalists aboutyour
findings in your reports, didn’t you?
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I discussed the issues that wereln the reports with

a select groupof journalists off the record; that's
correct.

Mr Steele, if you want to bandy words, you gave
presentations, but the point of this wasto tell
journalists what you had found about candidate Trump and
his doings in Russia, wasn't It?

It was to discuss the issues that came outof the
reporting. It wasn't to share the reporting with
Journalists .

You think that that’s a legal -- that's for the purpose
of legal proceedings, doyou? Is that your evidence?

I don't know the answer to that.

Well, the answeris obvious, isn't it, MrSteele? That
was for the purpose of political campaigning. Tt wasto
try and get this stwuff into the public domain to the
detriment of candidate Trump, wasn't it?

It wasto try and get the journalist to investigate the
issues, Is howI would put it, your Lordship.

It wasn't intended to benefit candidate Trump, was it?
It wasn't intended to reflect well on him?

No.

Tt was Intended to reflect badly on him, wasn't it?

It depends whetherit is true or not, whether the
material was correct, whether it was accurate.
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Well, I assume you believed it was accurate?

Yes, 1 did.

So If youbelieved it was aceurate, and you were
presenting it to journalists, you were doing that for
the purpose of damaging candidate Trump, weren't you?
T don't agree with that. I think, your Lordship, that
is too simplistic. I was airing the issues which had
arisen out of our work.

Mr Steele, let me make it clear: I'm not suggesting you
were antlpathetic to towards candidate Trump. You
understand me. I'mnot even suggesting that in doing
this work you were trying to -- I'm not suggesting you
‘were trying to promote some kind of antl-Trump agenda.
What I am suggesting is that you knew that this material
was belng used for political purposes, namely to advance
the Interests of the Clinton campaign.

That may have been one of the purposes, and only in the
event that the information, the leads, were correct.
Well, you were belng presented as a serlous and
experienced former intelligence officer whose research
could be trusted and you were being presented to all
these journalists as someone who was worth listening to,
weren't you?

That's true.

Mr Simpson wasn't saying, “Here's my old friend
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Christopher Steele, he's a bit of a fantasist and he's
made up quite a lot of stuff but maybe you want to
investigate as well”, was he?

No, he was presenting me as somebody who was a serious
professional .

Yes. This was therefore being used for political
campaigning purposes. It's cbvious, Isn't it,

Mr Steele?

I think that's too crude a way of putting it.

How many reports did you produce for the Clinten
presidential campaign?

‘Within the bounds of the contracr?

Yes.

16, T believe.

You see, the numbers run from B0 to 166. So there
appear to be 70 missing reports in that sequence. What
are they about?

Within Orbis every repert, no matter which project it is
being produced on, Is given a consecutive number. So
there is no significance in -- the numbers thatare
missing, if you like, are numbers that refer to reports
that were going into other project work.

Are you sure that these are the only reports?

There were 16 memos produced subject to the contract.
There was a note at the end of November that referred to
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Mitt Romney becoming Secretary of State, and there was
a December memorandum that was produced, I think

13 December, which was after the contract had expired.
‘What about number 877

1 wouldn't know offhand, sorry, which --

You see, number 87 isn't in the reports published by
BuzzFeed, but it appears to be one you gave to the FEL
If youlook at your --

Could you expand on that? BecauseI'mnot--

Yes, if youlook at your note at {D/55.1/1]. T think it
is still upnow. If wehavea list here, wewere
presented with reports 2016/88, 2016/87 --

Oh, yes.

-- B6 and 807

Yeah. Yeah, yeah.

Now -

Canl explain that?

Yes.

They are pursuant to different work for the FBL. They
are not relevant to -- that report was not concerning
the Trump-Russia issue. It was some other issue, as was
88, presumably.

Well, all the other numbers are in the reports published
by BuzzFeed, but 87 isn"t.

Could I explain again, just to be clear, your Lordship,
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that we were working on a number of projects for the FBI
at that time which were separate and independent of the
Trump-Russia work we were doing for Fusion, and so I was
sharing -- the reports there are the Orbis reports which
refer to those other projects.

So there were only 16 that were produced: that’s your
evidence?

There were 16 that were produced subject to the

contract.

And then --

Then there was a memo --

And then the -- yes, and then a later one?

Then there was a further one, yeah,

Yes.

So 17 plus a memo, 16 within the contract.

It is fair to say that your memoranda were mostly
single-source reporting?

That's fair, yes.

And, up to a point, were uncorroborated Intelligence?
Upto a point, yes.

You understand I'm quoting your words to you, Mr Steele?
Yes, yes.

And you say that they were informed by background
research in your judgments as intelligence professional?
Yes.

169

But that they were raw intelligence?

I'm not sure they were raw intelligence, because raw
Intelligence is the transeript, my Lord, of a debrief of
a source, and so they were informed by other knowledge.
For example -- if I can give an example - the meeting
between - reported between Mr Putin and Mr Yanukovych,
the former Ukrainian president, near Volgograd was
something we had checked the movements of those two
before we issued the report.

I mean, the definition of raw intelligence , as

I understand it, is something that is passed directly
froma source, so it has not been analysed.

It hasn't been analysed at all so it would be pretty
much a transcript, your Lordship, of a debriefing.

You say in your witness statement that you asked trusted
intermediaries to debrief trusted Russian sub-sources
who have had personal knowledge or direct access to the
relevant information. Is that --

Mm hmm.

That's at paragraph 28. (C/4/6)

Yes.

Is that a correct description of the positicn?

That's -- yes.

You assess that the sources were trustworthy; yes?

Mm hmm.
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Yes?

Yes.

How did you do that?

. The sources or the sub-sources?

The sources.

Because we had long-standing relatienships with the
main -

Q. Well, they might have been deceiving you for many years,
Mr Steele. Long-standing relationship doesn't indicate
trustworthiness, does It?

oo o

A, PerhapsT could expandonthat a little bit?

Q. Yes.

A. Judging by the track record, your Lordship, of their
previous reporting, whether it had stood up to events on
the ground in the real world, and whether it was
supported by other source reporting.

Q. Youpaid the sources a retainer of between $3,000 and
$5,000 2 month?

A. Thar is an average, yes.

So they hada financial incentive to feed you

information that was interesting: correct?

A. Yes, but -- that Is true, but they were pald also to do
other project work. This is not the only project,

o

your Lordship, they were working on at the time,
Q. No, I'mnot suggesting for a momentitis, but whatI a

171

suggesting Is that If youare paying someone $5,000

a month to produce intelligence, they have an Incentive
to make things up or embellish them so you carry on
employing them. Obviously that's right, lsn"t it,

Mr Steele?

A. 1 disagree with that because if they are caught our
embellishing or making things up, then they are
discontinued.

Q. Did you discontinue the sources that told youabout
Mr Gubarev(sic) meeting -- giving illicit cash to
MrPutin in the 1990s?

MR MILLAR: Mr Gubarev?

A Sorry?

MR TOMLINSON: Sorry, I'm so sorry, my mistake entirely:
Mr Govorun.

MRMILLAR: That's for later, my Lord!

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Different case altogether.

A. Sorry, your Lordship, slightly confused there. Not
a problem. So the answer cbviously is no.

MR TOMLINSON: Well, I'll return to that polnt, Mr Steele.
I just wondered how rigorous your procedures were.

How often do you get rid of your sources due to

unreliability ?

It happens from time to time.

Q. How do you assess the trustworthiness of the

P
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i sub-sources? 1 Q. Soin some cases you know they have aceess and In other
2 A, Usually by the nature of -- the nature and length of 2 cases you just assume they have access?

3 their relationship with the source, your Lordship, but 3 A, Idon't assume. I amtold they have access and then

4 also on the basis of their reporting track record. 4 it's tested.

5 Q So-- 5 Q. Well, it mayormaynotbe tested, because it may be

6 A. Onother projects, in other words. [ something that you can’t obtain any other corroboration

7 Q. -- yourely onthe source to tell you how good the 7 for so youhave to rely on them being accurate,

8 sub-source is? 8 Mr Steele.

9 A, Only partly. The source will obviously describe their § A, Thatis correct, but a rare situation, your Lordship.
10 relationship with the sub-source and hopefully be, 10 Q. 1 mean,they may have direct knowledge or they may just
T: your Lordship, objective as possible about that, because 11 be repeating rumours to you that they have heard;

12 it reflects on them too, and then they will be judged on 12 correct?

13 the basis of other source reporting and the track record 13 A, It's possible.

14 of their own reporting. 14 MR TOMLINSON: My Lord,Iam about to move on to a wholly

15 Q. The sub-sources were Russian; correct? 15 new topic. I"mveryhappyte do it but I'min

16 A. Theywere-- 16 your Lordship’s hands.

17 Q. I think that was your evidence? 17 MRJUSTICE WARBY: I think that is probablya good point to

18 A. Yes, yes. That-- I think -- I havea slight problemof 18 stop. It's berween 4.15 and 4.30 and we're keeping up

19 Jigsaw identification here, your Lordship, but what 19 to schedule,

20 1 can say is that the vast majority of them are Russian. 20 MRTOMLINSON: My Lord, there's absolutely no doubt whatever

21 Q. Andarethey located in Russia or in Londonorin 21 that this witness will be finished tomorrow.

22 Europe, Western Europe? 22 MR]JUSTICE WARBY: Yes. Right. Well, 10.30 tomorrow then.

23 A, Located? 23 Now, you're stll in the wimess box. You have

24 Q. Well, dothey live in Russia -- live and workin Russia 24 heard me say -- you may not have heard me say because

25 or do they live and work elsewhere? 25 you weren't here yesterday, but while youare giving
173 175

1 A. The majority of them live and work in Russia. 1 evidence, don't talk to anyone else about the case.

2 Q. Anddoyou actually meet your sub-sources? 2 A 1 doyouunderstand that, your Lordship.

3 A. Sometimes yes, sometimes no. 3 MRMILLAR: My Lord, Tam grateful for the Indlcatien from

4 Q. I mean,there's some that you have never met? 4 my learned friend. Is It still the case that we're

5 A. Correct. 5 going to have set piece closing submissions on Thursday,

6 Q. Andsome thatyou meet when they are visiting from 6 even If he finishes early tomorrow, or will we go

7 Russia; correct? 7 straight into those?

8 A Yes. 8 MR TOMLINSON: It's not a matter for me.

9 Q. Yousay in your witness statement that these Russian 9 MRMILLAR: Well, it would be my preference to --

10 sub-sources would have personal knowledge or direct 10 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Your preference would be to have time to
i3 | access to informarion? 11 prepare submissions?

12 A Yes. 12 MRMILLAR: Yes.

13 Q. Whatdoyou mean by "would have™? 13 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Well, I think if we're not under pressure
14 A By-- 14 of time, that will be good. 1 think they will be more
15 Q. Doyoumean they did have? 15 useful to me if they are preparedin the light of the
16 A. Yes. Butalso, I think, your Lordship, I'm implying 16 evidence with some time to reflect .

17 there that judging by their officlal positions or their 17 MRTOMLINSON: My Lord, it's been suggested to me by

18 job or their relationship with the intelligence . That's 18 informed sources that by Thursday we might have to deal
13 the point. 19 with it all onpaperand ..

20 Q. Butyoudon't actually know whether they actually do 20 MR]JUSTICE WARBY: Well, 1don't know any more, but[ hope
21 have access; you just assume that they have access? 21 I don't know any less, than you do about that.

22 A. Again, your Lordship, I havero be slightly careful here 22 MRMILLAR: We speak repeatedly of a rapidly evolving

23 with jigsaw identification , but in the case of some of 23 situation these days, I think.

24 them 1 can see from the open source record that they 24 MRJUSTICE WARBY: That's true.

25 would have access to the relevant information. 25 MR TOMLINSON: But, my Lord, I think certainly wharl had in

174
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1 mind was to, when we finish the evidence, then adjourn
2 and reconvene at some convenient time on Thursday with
3 the benefit of written submissions.
4 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Yes. We'll plan on that basis.
5 MRMILLAR: Iam grateful.
6 (425 pm)
7 (The court adjourned until 10.30 am
8 on Wednesday, 18 March 2020)
9
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(10.30 am)
MR CHRISTOPHER STEELE (continued)
Cross-examination by MR TOMLINSON (continued)
MR TOMLINSON: Good morning, Mr Steele.

A. Good morning, Mr Tomlinson.

Q. I wantto now ask you about the compllation of
M dum 112, the cir nces in which you were
instructed to provide it.

A. Mmhmm.

Q. In the first two versions of your witness statement,
signed by a statement of truth, yousaid that those
Instructions were given on 11 September 2016, didn't
you?

A, Yes.

Q. And that was wrong?

A, It waswrong.

Q. Yousaid -- you now say that these instructions were
given at the July meeting, the July meeting you had
previously mentioned with Mr Sussman?

A, That's not the case. 1 was given the instruction
sometime after that meeting by Mr Simpson.

Q. Very well. Andsoat the July -- according to you, at
the July meeting, Mr Sussman mentioned to you the
connection between the server at Alfa Group and the

1

server at Trump Tower. Is that sull your evidence,
Mr Steele?

A. That is my recollection, yes.

Q. Youthen say that Mr Simpson instructed you to produce
Memorandum 112 soon after that meeting?

A, Yes.

Q. Butyoucan't remember when?

A. T have no record of It.

Q. You have no record of anything, have you?

A. 1 haven't got any records relating to the creation of
112,

Q. Orindeed any of the other memoranda?

A. No, they were wiped in early January 2017.

Q. Yes. Yes. Yousee, I suggest that you're wrongabout
your recollection that the server link was mentioned to
youin July 2016. Do you think that might be correct?

A. I think ir's possible, bur I don't think it's correct,

Q. Yousee, doyouknow when the - the first time this
allegation was made public?

A. I think it wasin October.

Q. On 31 October, wasn't it?

A. Mm hmm.

Q. Canwchavealook at [D/76/1), please. This wasthe
first time that this was put into the public domain —

A, Mmhmm.
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-- by an article in Slate. I'mnotsure if it is

2 magazine ora website, but whateverit is -- I think
it may be a magazine.

Possibly both.

Possibly both. By Mr Foer.

Mm hmm.

Hedescribed it -- are you famillar with this artele?
Yes, T am.

He described how a computer scientist, using the
pseudonym Tea Leaves, had found some cennections in late
July.

Mm hmm.

Do you remember that?

Yes, I do.

Lock at the second page, please [D/76/2). The bottom
paragraph:

“In late July, one of those scientists -- whoasked
to be referred to as Tea Leaves .. found whatlooked
like malware emanating from Russla. The destination
domain had Trump in its name ..

Then if you go over the page: (D/76/3)

"More data was needed, so he began carefully keeping
logs of the Trump server's DNS activity

Do you see that?

Yes.

So Mr Tea Leaves, who was at least one of the sources of
this story, didn't actually know there was a connection
in late July, did he?

I think he did.

No, no, it says here, clearly, he first became
suspicious in late July, then he began carefully keeping
logs and so on. It was then some research took place
over a period. That's whatthe article outlines.

Mm hmm.

But in late July all he had seen was suspicious server
activity .

I believe he passed that information on to the Fusion
cllent in late July, if it washim that passed it on.
They were in possession of that information in

late July.

Well, that's whatyousay, Mr Steele, but your
recollection has already been proved to be wrong once
and I'm suggesting it is wrongagain. Do youunderstand
me?

1 do understand that, but there is a logic to this,

my Lord, if I may. Thereare some things I'm clearer
about In my mind from that perlod than others, and what
I'mvery clear Is that the first person that ever
mentioned the Trump server issue, Alfa server issue, was
Mr Sussman. I only ever met Mr Sussman twice, and the

4
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instruction to produce 1112 was absolutely definitely
linked to the server issue.

Therefore, it has to have been the case that it was
mentioned to me in late July.
You see, you're also familiar with the subsequent long
article in the New Yorker about the history of this
allegation, aren’t you?
Yes.
That's at {D/121/1). This is another computer scientist
with a pseudonym, this time called Max. If welook at
page 4 of this {D/121/4],it is in August 2016 that Max
decides to reveal the data he and his colleagues had
assembled. Do yousee, that’s the penultimate matter
graph.
I do.
So Max goes to the New York Times, Mr Eric Lichtblau,
in August 20167
Yes.
The New York Times then subsequently ge to the FBI In
late September 2016. Do you remember that? If you go
over the page to page 5. (D/121/5)
Yeah, they wentto the FBI at that time, The New York
Times.
It is the middle paragraph:

"At the meeting, in late September, 2016,

5

a roomful ..”

And so on.

You see, according to your first recollection,
Mr Sussman told you that the FBI had been informed
in July.

That's right, yes.

But there's absolutely no evidence, Is there, that the
FBI -- anywhere else -- that the FBI were informed

in July, apart from your recollection?

1 don't know who the source -- original source that
Mr Sussman had for the story. 1'mnot-- it seems there
are several sources here of this story and I'm notsure
where Mr Sussman'’s intelligence came from.

You see, you're very familiar, I know, Mr Steele, with
the material -- the background to this. There’s not

a shred of evidence anywhere that anybody was aware of
this supposed server connection in late July, is there?
‘Well, that's whatI was-- my recollection is that

that's whatl was told in late July.

Well, all weknow forcertain is that you must have been
instructed to produce the memorandum at some date before
14 September 2016.

Correct.

So what did you do then. when you got that instruction?
‘What was your next move?

6

W =] U W

@~ AU W

A T
R -

20
21
22
23
24
25

1 gave a briefing question to my source,

Did you -- do you have a range of possible sources? Did
you think: is this a job for source 1, is this a job for
source 2, Is this a jeb for source 3; or is there only
one person you go to?

No, usually several, dependingon all sorts of
clreumstances which are operational, for example, if
somebody is travelling, is able to meeta certain
sub-source and so on.

So you chose a particular source on that occasion?
That's right, yes.

And that source was a Russian?

Yes.

You hesitate, but you described him in the memo as

a trusted compatrior of a Russian Government official?
Correct, yes.

‘Where was that source living at the time?

I'd rather not answer that question, your Lordship,
because it is part of the issue of jigsaw
Identification .

Mr Steele, 1 know thatyou had a career in intelligence
and your instinct s to be secret, but youcan't
possibly identify someone by saying what country they
are living in, canyou?

MR JUSTICE WARBY: You didn't actually ask what country.

7

You sald where,
So we have established --

MR TOMLINSON: I'm so sorry, your Lordship is absolutely

A

right.

‘What country were they living in, Mr Steele?
T wasn't asking for their address.
Your Lordship, would you care to comment on that

question in terms of this jigsaw

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Wellit's not for me to comment. If you

A

want to say that giving the answer would risk
identification of the source and that you object to
answering the question on that basis, then that's what
you should say, and then we'll get another question.
Okay. Yes, I do object to that because of travel and
identification issues.

MR TOMLINSON: So the FSB has a total rundown on everybody

A
Q.
A

‘who travels around Europe and can work out from that who
your source might be?

From passenger manifest, yes.

Mr Steele, that's just not realistic , is it?

It is realistic , ['mafraid.

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, that's a question1 would ask

your Lordship to direct the witness to answer.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Well, shall we round them up asa list

and see later on?
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MR TOMLINSON: I'llask Ms Sjevoll to keepa list.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes.

MR TOMLINSON: Was this person the source for any of the
other memoranda in the so-called dossier?

A. Yes,

Q. How many of them? All of them?

A. Mostof them.

Q. Mostof them. How long had you had them on retalner?

A. Onretainer or onthe payroll? It's a slightly
different issue.

Q. Sorry, what's the distinction? T wasn't aware there was
one.

A. If you pay someone a retainer, you pay them a monthly
amount of money regardless of their work.

Q. Right.

A, And if you pay them according to what they produce for
a project or a particular report, it's a sort of
one-off, or series of one-off payments.

=

In your witness statement you only refer to the first as
people belng pald a regular sum of $3,000 to $5,000.
Yes, at that time.

At that time.

‘We're going back in history.

I see. I see. So how long had they been either on the
payroll or on retainer?

Lo

9

A. Yes, 1 would say about six years.

Q. Whatkind of business or occupation did this source work
in?

A. I would rather not answer that, my Lord. If we could
put that onthe a list.

Q. Yousee, is this -- If this is a source who moves in
anti-Putin émigré circles, if I can put it that way,
that obviously casts a substantial light onthe sort of
information they are going to provide to you, doesn't
it?

A. It would if they did.

Q. Anddid they?

A. But our sources are not involved in anti-Putin émigré
activity .

Q. Well, that wasa't my descriptlon, if they movedin
anti-Putin émigré circles, it's a different point.

A. Theydon't do that either.

You say in your third witness statement that you have

2

concerns about their safety. Ts this someonewho has

been subject to any threats?

That's a difficult question, my Lord, to answer.

I believe their family has been monitored.

Q. Their family has been monitered. This source is still
alive, we're talking abouta living person here;

correct?

5
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We are.

Is this the source that the Inspector General's report
designates as Person 1?

Person 17

Person 1, your primary sub-source. The terms are used
in a confusing way --

I"msorry, I think --

-- but I think by sub-source they mean source in your
terms?

Yeah, T think there are two -- two separate people
they're referring to here, if T mightsay, my Lord.

T think there's a Person 1 anda principal sub-source.
There's a Person 1 and a primary sub-source?

Yes.

Is this personPerson 1? Is the source you're talking
about here Person 1?

No.

Is there -- are they the primary sub-source?

Yes.

The Person 1 you described as a boaster and an egotst
‘who engaged in embellishment; correct?

I didn’t make a categorical statement of that sort.

I said he was somebody who possibly embellished.

But you said he was a boaster and an egotist?

Yeah, that doesn't mean he'sa bad source though.

11

Doesn't it?

Many sources have big eges, ['m afraid.

Was the primary sub-source that we're referring to

here -- that's the source in this case --

Yes.

-- was that persona boaster and an egotist as well?
No.

So how did you communicate with this source, Initially ?
We're talking after Mr Simpson has called you up and
said, "I wantyouto lock into the links between Alfa
and Putin”.  How do you communicate with the source?
Both by encrypted communications and in persen.

So you actually have a meeting with them before they're
comrmissioned, as it were, as part of the commissioning
process; is that right?

Usually, yes.

Not usually: in this case?

Yes.

Did you identify at that stage a suitable sub-source or
did you leave that to the source?

It's a slightly more complicated situation than that
because obviously the source has a number of sub-sources
and a number of potential sub-sources to report on

a particular issue. And so we obviously discuss
sub-sources who might be able to comment on an issue and

12
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it's up to the source then to see who they can meet and
‘who is useful ona particular topic. To use their
judgment, essentially .

So, on this oceasion, you discussed a number of
potential sub-sources; is that your evidence?

Yes, there were a number of sub-sources who potentially
could have contributed to this, or did to the project,
and potentially to this specific issue.

But your source alighted ona sub-source who was a top
level Russlan Government official?

Yes.

‘Who was in the Kremlin?

Yes. My Lord, may I make a comment about the term,
“the Kremlin", because for Russianists, it isn't just
who works physically within the walls of the Kremlin.
It s a reference to the leadership of the country and
the number of government ministries and other bodies
that take part in the high organs of state.

So this person might be the government minister in
Novosibirsk, you mean?

No, that would be not the Kremlin.

Well, they wouldbea top level government official if
they were the --

No, I don’t think they woeuld be.

Well, you said the term "the Kremlin” referred to the

13

top level of government?

Yes.

If someoneisin charge of the third city of Russia,
then they're obviously a top level government official,
aren't they?

I don't -- I wouldn't use that term, no.

I see. So "in the Kremlin" -- by “in the Kremlin" you
don’t mean that they're physically within the confines
of that building in Moscow?

Indeed, because I think eventhe presidential
administration is not physically in the walls of the
Kremlin.

But you mean that they're at the centre of

Russian Government?

At the peak of the vertical of power, yes.

Was this person the sub-source for any other of the
memoranda?

Yes.

Which ones?

I would say parts of them, rather than all of them--
all of the reperts. So they contributed parts of the
other report.

Shall we go through them and identify which ones that
they contributed to.

1 can think of a couple but I would rather -- again,

14

=W

=
Howo o u

HERBERPRRPRP
Wwom o U W

(SIS ]
s WN B o

[ 5]
w

=

@~ U B W

13
12
13
14
15
17
18
1s
20
21
22
23
24
25

2

<

my Lord, T have a problem with that, because I think it
pertains to jigsaw identification of the sub-source.
But it also helps us to assess whether they provided
accurate information, doesn't it?

It's part of that -- could be part of that process,
This sub-source, of course, had worked for us for
several years.

I mean, we know that certain things in your memoranda
‘were undoubtedly inaccurate; even on your assessment,
they were inaccurate?

1 wouldn'tadmitto that.

The Miami consulate, for example, the non-existent Miami
consulate that was running cyber activities ?

There was a Miami consular general -- Miami consul
general, sorry, at the time, so these are minor points
of detail. If I mightsay, my Lord, no intelligence
report I've ever seen has been 100% correct.

How do you know that?

Well, that is my assessment when we've assessed things.
So which bit of Memorandum 112 is not correct? You say
that no memorandum is ever 100% correct so -- I thought
you were maintaining that this one was 100% correct?
The only thing In Memorandum 112 that appears not to be
100% correct is the timing of Govorun's time with Alfa
and the period when Vladimir Putin was Deputy Mayor of

15

St Petersburg.

Is that your evidence; that's the only thing that's
Incorrect, Mr Steele?

Yes.

Well, I'l1l come back to that.

The sub-source, is that someone you have ever met?
Again, I'd rather not answer that, my Lord, for
identification reasons.

How long have you had dealings with them?

Several years.

‘How many is that? Two?

Three or four.

Ten?

Well, it depends whether you are talking from 2016 or
from this --

No, of course, I'm ralking about 2016.

Okay, So I would say three years.

What did you know about that sub-source’s connections in
the Russian Government?

Alot.

A lot?

Mm.

Onwhat basis? Where did your information come from?
Well, both from the source and from open source
Information.

16
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1 Q. Yousay you're concerned about their safety? 1 Q. Whatdoyoumean by that?
2 A Indeed 2 A, What] meanis that they had conmributed to a number of
3 Q. Havethey beensubject to threats? 3 Orbis projects over the years and the things that they
4 A. I don't know. 4 had reported on had either been corroborated by other
5 Q. I now want toask youabout the specific steps youtook 5 sources or had turned out to be the case from open
6 to ensure the reliability of this memorandum. 6 source and events on the ground.
7 A, Mmhmm. 7 Q. Wasthe contact between the sub-source and the source
B Q. If youlook at page 31 cof your first -- or your revised 8 made from a country outside the UK?
g statement [C/4/7). It will popupin a moment. 9 A Yes.
10 A. Which aumber, sorry? 10 Q. Which country was that, in the case of Memorandum 1127
11 Q. Paragraph3l 11 A. Canyouelaborate on whatyou mean by the contact that
12 A. Yeah 12 ‘was made between them? Are you talking about them
13 Q. It says -- there’s a lule free- floating 13 meeting, or are you talking about their original --
14 subparagraph under paragraph 31. 14 initial contact, by other means?
15 A Yes. 15 Q. I'mralking about whatyousay at paragraph 30 of
16 Q. It says: 16 your
7 "Instead, I took the following steps to ensure as 17 A. Direct or indirect?
18 far as possible the reliability of the content of the 18 Q. Paragraph 30 of your witness statement.
19 memoranda in the Dossier - including CR112" 19 A. Right. I didn't see that,
20 A. Yeah 20 Q. If wegobackto the previous page [C/4/6).
21 Q. Is that your evidence? 21 A, Yes.
22 A Yes. 22 Q. The last sentence;
23 Q. I don't wantto take a false point, MrSteele. Is your 23 “Contact between the sub-source and the source was
24 evidence that the steps you then cutline are, unless you 24 ‘made from a country outside the UK
25 specifically say to the contrary, steps that you tock in 25 A Yeah
17 19
b 3 relation to CR112? 1 Q. Areyou referring there to the initial contact, or the
2 A Yes. 2 contact for the purposesof this memorandum?
3 Q. Soat paragraph33-- 3 A, Thememorandum.
4 A Mmhmm 4 Q. So which country was that?
5 Q. -- yousay: 5 A. Russia.
6 "Normally, sources would transit through London and 6 Q. Youthen havea briefing with your source when the
7 onto other destinations out of the country. On their 7 source has been in contact with the sub-source; correct?
8 transit out of London, I would meet with them face to B A. Debriefing, I think, better term. Briefing before --
9 face to brief themonthe intelligence I was seeking.” 9 Q. Debriefing.
10 Did that happen in this case? 10 A. -- debriefing after.
11 A. Thatis myevidence. So, yes -- 11 Q. Let meget the terminology right. Was that in Londen?
12 Q. It did happenin this case? 12 A Yes.
13 A Yes. 13 Q. Wasthat in person or by telephone?
14 Q. Yousay at paragraph34-- 14 A In person.
15 A. Mmhmm, 15 Q. Whatdid the source tell youabout the meeting-- about
16 Q. -- that the contact between the source and the 16 the circumstances of their meeting with the sub-source,
1T sub-source was made from a country outside -- I"m sorry. 17 about gifts and favours?
18 Paragraph 34: the source reported back 1o you; you ook 18 A. Nothing specific about gifts and favours, other than
19 manuscript notes but did not keep them. Was that 19 they had met directly .
20 correct? 20 Q. ThereasonI ask you is because that's what you describe
21 A. I kept them for as long as it took to write the memo. 21 as happening in paragraph 29 [C/4/6).
22 Q. Yousay, again, at paragraph 34: 22 A. Yeah, I mean, gifts and favours might mean buying
23 ".. the source and the sub-source had a very good 23 a bottle of wine or something like that.
24 reporting record 24 Q. It just says:
25 A. Correct. 25 "During the course of my briefings with the sources

18
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1 following their meeting witha sub-source .~ I describing. 1 doesn't it? 1 third-hand; in other words, they were there.  If you're
2 1 see you use the inaccurate term "briefings” as 2 Q. Well, let"s havea look at It. 2 A. It does, yes. 2 reporting on what happened and you have personal
3 well, but never mind: 3 A We're getting down into the weeds here. 3 Q. Andwho does that? 3 knowledge, you must in some sense have been there, part
4 *During the course of my briefings with the sources 4 Q. Let's havea look at the -- see what was sald on behalf 4 A Me 4 of the organisation on one side or the other?
5 following their meeting witha sub-source, I would ask 5 of Orbis in the further information. I think it's 5 Q. Soyouthen produce-- and in between the taking of the 5 A. I don't think they were there in the 1990s, but that
[ about the circumstances of the meetings .. whetherany 6 response 8 in [A/12/1) -- no, sorry, response 8 is 6 handwritten note and typing up the report, you now say 6 doesn’t mean that they hadn't talked to people who were,
7 modest gifts had beengiven .. the value of the 7 something different. Give me a moment. Response 15 7 that you do an internet search on Mr Govorun, you look 7 Q. It doesn't mean that they had elther, does it?
8 dinner.. [and whether they] had asked the source for 8 (A/12/10). 8 at meetings of the Russian Union of Industrialists . Is 8 A. No.
9 any favours in exchange for the intelligence * S Sorry, it's response 21 (A/12/12]. 9 there anything else you do? 9 Q. Soin relation to that allegation, that was something
10 A, Yes. 10 A. Sorry, youre on21now? 10 A. I thick they were the only two things welooked at, 10 that was second-hand, third-hand, fourth-hand; you
11 Q. Didyouask that in this case? 11 Q. Tt should be the bottom of A/12/12. Full details of 11 If I mightsay, it's not always me that does the 11 didn't know?
12 A 1 did, yes. 12 the -- this is the steps that were supposed to have been 12 open source search. Sometimes one of my colleagues does 12 A. Notfor certain, no.
13 Q. What was the answer? 13 taken to construte reasonable care: 13 it, because they're far more able technologically than 13 Q. Well, youdidn't know for uncertain either, did you,
14 A T think they shareda borte of wine. 14 “.. hadregard to the nature of the allegations on 14 I am. In this case -- but in this case I think I did 14 Mr Steele?
15 Q. Now,in terms of your verificatory steps, at 15 which it was instructed to report [etc] .. the roles 15 it 15 A, Mo
16 paragraph 32 [C/4/7) you say: 16 and status .. all steps reascnably required .. 16 Q. Yousay in paragraph 34 of your witness statement at 16 Q. I mean if T tell yousomething that happened in British
17 “I assessed the intelligence I received having 17 considering public domain material (see above) and the 17 (Cr4/7) - 17 politics in the 1990s, you don't know whether [ was
18 regard to whatl knew of the source and sub-sources and 1B input of intelligence sources, the reliability of 18 A. Mmhmm. 18 there, or whetherI've heard it from someone who was
19 thelr roles .. I asked other aboutthe individual 18 the Defendant .. using its knowledge and experience.” 19 Q. -- the last paragraph: 19 there, or whetherI have heard it from fourth-hand,
20 source or sub-source and their story, and 20 A, Sorry, where are we again? 20 "The source and sub-source were established 20 fifth -hand, or whetherI've just read it on the
21 I cross-referenced the information .. against open 21 Q. Sorry, we're now going over the pageto -- 21 connections of mine; I trusted them and knew that they 21 internet. You have no idea.
22 source data where possible.” 22 A, Weareon 21, at the top of -- before 227 22 werein a position to report to me accurately.” 22 A. Butl wouldaskyou.
23 Did you do that in this case? 23 Q. Yes, and we're now going over the pageto [A/12/13). 23 What does that mean? 23 Q. Butyoucouldn't ask him because you're not in touch
24 A 1 --yes, Idid. 24 Sorry, forgive me. 24 A, That the sub-source, by definition of their job, would 24 with -- himor her; you're net in touch with your
25 Q. Yousee, there's nothing about that in your witness 25 A, Yeah, so Yeah. 25 have known of the information -- 25 sub-source so you can’t ask them?
21 23 25 27
1 statement specifically in relaton to 112, is there? 1 Q. Yousee, it doesn't say there that youdid any specific 1 Q. Butthat doesn’t mean-- 1 A. No, it's the job of the source do that.
2 A, Noteverything is in the witness statement. 2 research into Mr Govorun, for example, does it? 2 A. Youwould have expected them to have known the 2 Q. Anddid the source?
3 Q. Andwhenyouwere asked, when Orbis was asked to set out 3 A, But we did open source work, some open source research 3 information, 3 A, Onrthat specific point, no.
4 the steps that constituted reasonable care to verlfy, 4 on it, along the lines I've described. 4 Q. Butthat doesn’t mean that they're going o tell you it 4 Q. Didthe -- so far as youare aware, did the sub-source
5 there was no mention of doing any of this, was there? 5 Q. I'll come toyour research on Mr Govorun in a few 5 accurately, does it? 5 know enough about Mr Putin's diary to know when he was
€ A. Well, when you talk to your colleagues and people around 6 minutes, Mr Steele, but I just wantto -- so your 6 A. Notby definition, no. 6 meeting Mr Fridman directly?
7 a piece of work, it doesn't usually feature in this kind 7 evidence is this: the source comes back from Russia, he 7 Q. I mean,they might give youan accurate account of what 7 A, 1 would say possibly,
8 of contact. 8 says, "I have hada bottle of wine with the sub-source 8 they know or they might not? 8 Q. Butdid youknow oneway or the other whether they
9 Q. Well, this isn't about talking to your colleagues, is 9 and this is whathe’s told me”, and you make a note? 9 A, That's abselutely true. I think that, however, when you 9 actually did?
10 it? It's cross-referencing information against open 10 A. A derailed note, yes. 10 assess information, you assess whether you think that 10 A. T would have expected that they could have known, given
11 source data, Youdidn't do that In this case, did you? 1 Q. Howlongis that meeting? 11 the person giving it to you has access to that gL thelr position.
12 A. I think wedid. Welooked up Govorun and I think we 12 A That meeting-- that meeting lasts probablya couple of 12 information by definition of their job or relatives or 12 Q. Did youask your source whether they'd asked the
13 also looked up meetings that took place of the Russian 13 hours. Which -- sorry, which meeting? The meeting -- 13 ‘whatever. 13 sub-source whether they knew that directly or whether
14 Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs - 14 Q. The meeting-- 14 Q. So-- 14 they had heard that from somewhere else?
15 Q. MrSteele, there's no mention of that in your witness 15 A. Sorry. 15 A. It's oneof the factors of assessment 15 A, Thesource said that the sub-source was clear that that
16 statement, is there? 16 Q. Thedebriefing meeting, as you don't call it. 16 Q. -- whatyoumeanby“ina position to report accurately” 16 was the case.
17 A. Well, there is a reference of looking at open source, 17 A, The debriefing meeting with the source? LT is: potentially had access to the information on which 17 Q. Clear that Mr Fridman had recently met Mr Putin
1B which is what we did. 18 Q. Yes. 18 they were reporting. Is that the position? 18 directly ?
1S Q. Butyoudon't say, "In this case, we did the following 19 A. Acouple of hours. 18 A. Morethan potentally, I think; you would expect them to 19 A. Yes.
20 steps ..~ doyou? 20 Q. Youmakeahandwritten note and then you type it up? 20 have it 20 Q. Andthe source then said to the sub-source, "How do you
21 A. No. I didn't think it was necessary. 21 A. Yes, probablya couple -- well, type up the note or type 21 Q. So did yoursub-source have personal knowledge of the 21 know that?", did they?
22 Q. Whenyour side was asked what steps were taken to 22 up the report? 22 dealings between Mr Aven, Mr Fridman and Mr Putin in the 22 A I imagineso, yes.
23 constitute reasonable care, none of this was mentoned, 23 Q. Well, type up the report. 23 1990s? 23 Q. Sorry, youlmagine so?
24 was it? 24 A Yes. 24 A. Could you define what "personal knowledge” means? 24 A Yes.
25 A, Bur "opensource” is mentioned, and that’s whatI'm 25 Q. Thereport -- the note becomes the report In some sense, 25 Q. Well, something that they didn’t pick up second- or 25 Q. Soyoudon't know one way or the other?
22 24 26 28
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1 A. 1 don't know onc way or the other. 1 A. Yes, I said, "Does this sub-source have direct access to 1 cbviously different. 1 so probably in respect of this part.
2 Q. 1 mean, the sub-source might have said, "I meta manin 2 this information?" 2 A. Is that the revised version? 2 Q. 226, please [D/131/226]:
3 a bar who told me that he had a friend who knew somecne 3 Q. And the source said, "Yes™? 3 Q. It is the revised version. It is the latest version. 3 “The primary Sub-source was questioned again by the
4 who said that Fridman had met Putin recently " 4 A Yes. 4 A, Sorry, the amended version? 4 FBI beginning in March 2017 ... ©
5 A. Well, that wasn't the case. 5 Q. Andyouthensaid to the source, “Well, did you quiz 5 Q. Yes, this is the -- wehave put in the latest published 5 A Mmhmm.
6 Q. Howdoyoulknow? 6 them about that? Did you check that actually this isn't 6 version of this report: 6 Q. "The Washington Field Office agent .. who conducted
7 A, Because that's not how this sub-source and source work. b just hearsay and gosslp?” 7 "Durlng the FBI's January Interview, at which Case 7 that interview and others after it rold the OIG that the
8 Q. Howdoyouknow? You'renot there. 8 A. I had-- no, because [ had never seen hearsay or gossip 8 Agent 1, the Supervisory Intel Analyst, and 8 Primary Sub-source felt that the tenor of Steele's
9 A, Thatis whatI'mtold by the source. 9 from this sub-source before. 9 representatives of NSD were present, the Primary ] reports was far more ‘conclusive’ than was justified .
10 Q. Didyou-- 10 Q. Well, you wouldn't have known, would you, Mr Steele, 10 Sub-source told the FBI that he/she had not seen 10 The Primary Sub-source also stated that he/she never
11 A, Wholtrust. 11 because what you're dealing with is things which are at 1% Steele’s reports until they became public that month, 3k expected Steele to put the Primary Sub-source’s
12 Q. Did the sub-source have any, so far as youare aware, 12 least second-hand and probably fourth- or fifth -hand, 12 and that he/she made statements indicating that Steele 12 statements in reports or present them as facts.
13 any personal knowledge about significant favours being 13 denein a country which you don't have any access to. 13 misstated or exaggerated the Primary Sub-source’s 13 According to WFO Agent 1, the Primary Sub-source said
14 done by President Putin for the claimants or Alfa? 14 A, Notfourth- or fifth -hand. 14 statements in multiple sections of the reporting.” 14 he/she made it clear to Steele that he/she had no proof
15 A. I wouldsayyes. 15 Q. Youdon't knowwhetheritis fourth- or fifth -hand, do 15 Do you see that? 15 to support the statements from his/her sub-sources and
16 Q. You hesitate. 16 you? 16 A I see it, yes. 16 that 'It was just talk' .. the Primary Sub-source
17 A. I hesitate because I'm concerned about getting into 17 A. Notin a particular instance, but as a matter of modus 17 Q. So yourprimarysub-sourceis telling -- whichwe're 17 explained that his/her Information came from ‘word of
18 potential identification of the sub-source. 1 operandi, it’s not fourth- or fifth -hand. 18 talking about the individual in this case -- that you 18 mouth and hearsay’; 'conversation that [he/she] had with
19 Q. Yousee, to know about significant favours and informal 19 Q. MrSteele, yousay that, but you actually don't know one 15 have misstated or exaggerated what they told you? 19 friends over beers’ ..~
20 advice, you must have very direct knowledge. I mean, if 20 way or the other, do you? 20 A. That's what's reperted there. 20 That's the kind of quality of information we're
21 not in the room, youmustbea close friend of either -- 21 A I ammakingajudgment - 21 Q. Lookat page-- 21 dealing with, Mr Steele, isn't it?
22 of one of the two people involved, mustn't you? 22 Q. Yes. 22 A. As1I say, I have doubts about the detail of that 22 A No, I don't accept that.
23 A, I'mnotsure a friend, but certainly you would have to 23 A -- based on my knowledge of the source and the 23 interview because It has already been amended and 23 Q. Well, this is whatyoursourceis telling an official
24 be proximate to them, 24 sub-source. 24 revised once by the Department of Justice. 1 think the 24 US Government inquiry, isn't it?
25 Q. Sodid yousay to your source, “Well, that’s very 25 Q. Yes, yes, you make - 25 amendments are in the bundle, the trial bundle, at the 25 A, Asreported in this report.
29 31 33 35
1 interesting. That's remarkable. They know what's going 1 A. Andthe sub-source’s job. 1 beginning of the report, and -- 1 So you think that the USInspector General's office has
2 on in informal meetings between President Putin and 2 Yes, you make a judgment, but you don’t know whether 2 Well, let's just go -- we'll go backto see them, We'll 2 got it wrongand you are right: is that the position?
3 leading Russian businessmen. How do they know that?” 3 what you're being fed is hearsay, gossip and rumour, or 3 ¢o back to page -- let meget the page. I'mnotsure -- 3 Well, we know they have, Mr Tomlinson, because they have
4 Did you ask the source? 4 whether It Is something -- you know, whether it is 4 Is It page-- it's not page 1. (D/131/1) 4 already had to amend theiraccount of that interview.
5 Yeah, they -- looking at the history of that source's 5 someone who was actually in the room when Mr Putin was 5 . I think it's in the bundle-- 5 Significantly , I would argue.
] reporting track record and what they had reported on, it & having his meetings with Mr Aven or someone else, do 6 If yougo to the next pageI think maybeit's there. 6 Notin this respect, Mr Steele.
T was clear to me that they had this sort of access. 7 you? 7 (D/131/2} T A Well, we'll see,
8 Q. No, no, that wasn't the question I asked you. The 8 A. That's correct. 8 A. I think it's in the bundle-- this is it, yeah, this is B Canl add one other point, your Lordship, that on
9 question I asked you was: did you say to your source, 9 Q. Your primary sub-source, which is the person think 9 jt. Point 3or .3. 9 that point, although we had engaged with the
10 “Well, that's remarkable. This personis telling you 10 we're talking about now, as your source, told the FBI 10 Q. That's not about page 187, is 1t? 10 Inspector General's team for six months, that was
11 about what happened in private, informal meetings 11 you had misstated and exaggerated your statements in 11 A. It's aboutthe interview with the primary sub-source 11 unredacted from the report at the last minute and we
12 between the President of Russia and leading Russian 12 multiple sections of your reports, didn't they? 12 that took place in January 2017. 12 were not given the ability te answer it by the
13 businessmen. How do they know that?” 13 A I'mnotsure that they did say that. Your Lordship, the 13 Q. It’s aboutPerson 1, I think. 13 Inspector General's team, which is something we
14 A, Mmhmm. 14 0IG report, which is what Mr Tomlinson is referring to, 14 A. No, it's not 14 complained about in public afterwards.
15 Q. Didyouask them that? 5 has already been revised by the Department of Justice in 15 Q. But it doesn't -- MrSteele, it doesn't bite in any way 15 Q. I you go down to page 230, please (D/131/230).
16 A. Ican't recall. 186 terms of its interviewing of this primary sub-source, 16 on what1"'m quoting to you, which Is that your source 16 A. Ah, yeah. 192,
17 Q. 1 mean,I think the position from your previous answer 17 and completely changed the nature of the interview that 17 from this case is telling you that -- is telling the 17 Q. That's 192
18 was you thought: well, oh, they have reported accurately 18 he gave to them in January 2017. 18 Department of Justice that you have misstated and 18 A. Yeah.
18 in the past so that's fine? 19 Q. I mean,wehave the latest version in the bundle. Look 19 exaggerated their statements. 19 Q. Soin the penultimate paragraph, the interview with:
20 A. The problem here, your Lordship, is if 1 go into the 20 at [D/131/225), please, 20 A. Withrespect, I think it does purportto it because it 20 “Steele .. made statements that conflicted with
21 access of this sub-source, we get into potential 21 A. Yes. Is that right or 21 is showing that the account of that interview that was 21 explanations from two of his sub-sources about their
22 identification of the sub-source. 22 Q. Doyouhave that? 22 put in the OIG report to begin with Is actually wrong 22 access to Russian officials .. Steele explained that
23 Q. MrSteele, I wasvery careful in not asking you about 23 A. I have page 187. 23 and inaccurate. 23 the Primary Sub-source had direct access to a particular
24 the access of the sub-source. If you listen agaln, 24 Q. Yes, sorry, whenIsay 225, it is the electronic bundle 24 Q. Butnot in respect of this part. 24 former senior Russian government official and that they
25 I was asking you about what you said to the source, 25 number. Don't worry about the page numbers. They are 25 A, Well, certainly In respect of some very important parts, 25 had been "speaking for a while. The Primary Sub-source
30 32 34 36
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told the FBI, however, that he/she had never met or

2 spoken with the official
3 Do you see that?
4 A Yos.
5 Q. ". the Primary Sub-source revealed that [you] did not
& have good insight into how many degrees of separation
7 existed between the Primary Sub-source’s sub-sources and
8 the persons quoted in the reporting, and that it could
3 have been multiple layers of hearsay upon hearsay.”
10 (D/131/226)
11 A. T don't accept that.
12 Q. I mean in the original version of your witness
13 statement you relled on the nice things they said about
14 youin this report to indicate whata truthful person
G £ you were, didn’t you?

i A. They had obviously had significant interaction with us

17 over a pericd of six months, including two days of
18 voluntary interviews in London, from which they were
1% able to draw their own conclusions about me as
20 a professional; but they clearly got quite a lot wrong
21 in this report, I would argue.
22 Q. Sothe bits youagree with they got right, and the bits
23 you disagree with they got wrong; is that your evidence?
24 A I don't know what else they got wrong. All I knowis
25 that they got some of it wrong.

37

1 Q. Lookat page 226, again, please {D/131/226].

2 A Mmhmm.
3 Q in contrast to the impression left from [your]
4 reports, [the] sub-sources did not have direct access to
5 the persons they were reporting on.”
6 That's the second paragraph.
7 A, Sorry, the sub-source -- the source? The source didn't
8 have, or the sub-source?
S Q. That's the second paragraph:
10 “For example, the Primary Sub-source stated to
11 WFO Agent 1 that, in contrast to the impression left
12 from the election reports, his/her sub-sources [that's
13 primary sub-sources, what we're calling here the
14 sub-source] did not have direct access to the persons
15 they were reporting on.”
16 A. I think it depends which ones we're talking about. It
17 relies on specifies. In the case of this particular
1 memorandum, they did.
19 Q. Soyougot it wronginthe other memoranda but notin
20 this one; is that your evidence?
21 A. 1 don't think I got it wrong. I think we described the
22 sources in different ways.

23 Q. I mean, youputout a press release criticising the
24 Attorney General and said that you --
25 A. Excuseme, not the Attorney General. The Inspector

38
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General.
. Inspector General.

= 0

Yes, sorry.
. And saying that you didn’t have the opportunity to
respond.

o

>

Correct.

Let's look at that. That's at {D/133/1). This was put
out on your behalf by a firm of lawyers in Washington.
A. Yes. Just to say, your Lordship, that Bob Weinberg from
that firm had been invelved in the Interviews we hadin
London. He flew over. So he was present throughout the

o

interviews we had with the Inspector General's team and
did significant work with them back in Washington
thereafter.

Q. If we-- I think weneedto go over the page to page 2
(D/133/2]. Yes, sorry, forgive me, we need to go back
to page 1 to get the complete sentence (D/133/1]:

“Had Orbis been given the opportunity to respond in

a private session, the statements by the "Primary
Sub-Source’ would be put In a very different light "

A, Yes.

"The "Primary Sub-Source’s’ debriefings by Orbis were

lously d ted and ded.”

At the time.

o

or

. But none of these documents exist, so they have all been

39

destroyed.

=

At the time, Mr Tomlinson, when we wrote the report.

Q. Butyousay it wasmeticulous, but nobodyls in
a position to check that because the records don't
exist.

A, Theynolonger exist, but that Is my assertion, indeed,
my assertion under oath.

Q. Well, you believe them ro be meticulous, Mr Steele. I'm
sure that's right. But the perscnyou were talking to
effectively says yougot it all wrong

A, No, they don't. I don't think that's true.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Sorry. the bit that you were quoting,
Mr Tomlinson, where was that from?

MR TOMLINSON: It's the bettom of point 1 in this press
release and over the page: the last two sentences of
point 1. [D/133/1-2)

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Oh,Tsee.

A, Yes.

MR TOMLINSON: When you make statements of fact about Orbis’
business in a formal setting, do you always check that
they're correct, Mr Steele?

A. I'mnotsure what you're asking.

Q. Well, in witness statements and statements to  official

investigations and so on, do you check that, before you

state somethingasa fact, It is correct?

40
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1 A. To the best of our knowledge.
2 Q. I just wantto look at some examples, please. Lookat
3 paragraph 36 of your witness statement {C/4/8]. This is
4 a pelnt that was put in cross-examination by Mr Millar,
5 I think, day, ing a pany called Pamplona
6 Capital Management and its permission to take a stake in
7 the Insurer Chaucer.
8 A, Yes.
9 Q. Here, in paragraph 36, yousay, stating apparently as
10 a fact, that:
11 ".. the Russian ambassador .. attended the offices
12 of the FSAin order to atemptto incite the FSAto
13 reverse their decision to refuse to grant Pamplona
14 Capital Management, which was owned by Alfa Group.."
15 Do you see that?
16 A. That's whatl was told by the FSA official .
17 Q. Well, you state it as a fact, Mr-- you state as a fact
18 Pamplona Investment Capital Management was owned by
19 Alfa Group, don’t you?
20 A, Yes.
21 Q. Atwo-minute search on the Companies House website would
22 reveal to you that Pamplona Capital Management is in
23 fact owned by an Individual called Alexander Knaster and
24 is not owned by Alfa Group at all .
25 A. Butthe point that wastold mebythe official was that
41
1: it was Alfa Group that were lobbying for this takeover.
2 Q. No, but the point I'm makingtoyouis you state as
3 a fact:
4 Pamplona Capital Management, which was owned by
5 Alfa Group ."
6 Whichis wrong. It isn't a fact. It is false.
7 A, Okay.
8 Q. It’s careless at the very least, MrSteele, isn’t it?
9 A, It is in that instance.
10 Q. Let's take another example. Lookat paragraph 111 of
11 this statement [C/4/26]. This Is a paragraph which was
12 struck out as irrelevant, legally irrelevant, but I want
13 to ask you some questions about it because this is
14 something you were prepared to put in a witness
15 statement, signed by a statement of truth:
16 “While I am aware that the Claimants have complained
17 outside of these proceedings that they had no
18 involvementin efforts to influence the 2016
19 US Presidential election, Alfa Group in fact owns
20 SCL Group, a subsidiary of which is Cambridge Analytica,
21 which was engaged on behalf of President Trump's
22 campaign and responsible for harvesting the personal
23 data of Facebook users .."
24 Ete, etc. Youthen go to the trouble of exhibiting
25 the Information Commissioner's office notice finding

42
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Alfa Group-- finding a breach:

“If the Claimants suffer froma taint of asscclation
berween their businesses and influence on the election
of President Trump, that taint seems to me to arise
regardless of CR112"

Do you see that?

Yes.

This is an attempt to smear the claimants, by linking

them to Cambridge Analytica, isn’t it, Mr Steele?

No, it links themto -- whatwas it -- SL -- SL Group,

whatever.

Yousee, Alfa Group hasnothing whatever to do with SCL.

That Is simply an internet conspiracy theory that's been

put about by wild disinformation individuals. There's

no -- there's absolutely no truth in that whatever,

Mr Steele.

That there's no link berween Alfa and SCL?

Noneat all?

If yousay so.

Well -- but you were prepared to go into a witness
artacking the clai on that basis, on

the -- basically onthe basis of a piece of false online

disinformation. That's not responsible cenduet, is It,

Mr Steele?

If it's wrong, I would apologise for it.

43

Why did you put it in your witness statement at all?
Because I understood it to be true.

But you didn't say, "I understand this to be true”; you
state it as a fact, don't you?

Yes.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: I'm not sure how I'm supposed to

determine, on the basis of those questions, what to make
of all this.

MR TOMLINSON: Well, Mr Steele has -
MR JUSTICE WARBY: You have putitto him. There's no

evidence before me yet -- or I haven't been shownit --
that what's stated here is derived froma bit of
internet consplracy theory.

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, there isn’t, but Mr Steele has

A

Q.
A
Q.

accepted he has no personal knowledge of this and he's
accepting on the basis of the question I put to him that
this is -- this is -- he has no knowledge of its
accuracy.

But, Mr Tomlinson, I haven't seen any evidence, as you
say, of that. That's your contention,

‘Well, have you seen any evidence that --

That's your contention,

-- to support -- you're the one who makes the statement
in a witness statement with a statement of truth, Have
you seen any evidence to support this allegation?

44

Opus 2 International
Official Court Reporters

transcripts@opus2.com
+44 (0)20 3008 5900




March 18, 2020 Petr Aven, Mikhail Fridman and [...] Business Intelligence Limited Day 3

1 A. I have read about it. 1 Trump campaign and that Person 1's Russla/American

2 Q. Where? 2 organisation in the US had used the Alfa Bank server two

3 A I can't remember. 3 weeks prior.”

4 Q. Let me take another example. Do you remember you met 4 Did you tell him that?

5 State Department officials on 11 October 20167 5 A. 1 don't think I did. I mean, had two breakfast

6 A Yes. 6 meetings with Bruce Ohr. I suspect that it was

7 Q. Loockat [D/71/1],please. This is the 7 Glenn Simpson that told him that, not me.

8 State Department's note. This is whatyoutold them 2 Q. Well --

El about the things that were going on, you told them about 9 A, I remember the two breakfast meetings quite distinctly
10 your investigations . At the bottom of the page, you're 10 and they did not get into the details of the project at
11 reported as telling them: 11 all.

12 "Peter Aven of Alfa Bank has been the conduit for 12 Q. But, yousee, Person 1 is your source.
13 secret communicaticns between the Kremlin and Manafort; 13 A. No, I don't think that's true. I think Persenlls
14 messages are encrypted via Tor software and run between 14 possibly Paul Manafort, but I'm not sure because I den't
15 a hidden server managed by Alfa Bank (see separate paper 15 believe it's my information.
16 on this channel)” 16 Q. Isee. Soyouthink that the FBI have misrecorded that;
17 You told the State Departmentasa fact that that 17 is that the position?
18 was the position; correct? 18 A. I think Bruce Ohr has misreported it, which is not the
19 A. I told themthat It was the reporting that we had from, 18 same thing. Or misremembered [t
20 I believe, Mr Simpson at the tme. 20 Q. Yes. Bruce-- counsel at the Department of Justice has
21 Q. Sowhentheyrecord it as a statement of fact, they have 21 given inaccurate information to the FBI?
22 got it wrong as well, have they? 22 A, Well, I don't recall -- I'munder oath here-- that
23 A This -- again, this note by, I think, Kathleen Kavalec, 23 either that was my Information or that I ever discussed
24 if 1'm not mistaken -- 24 that issue with Bruce Ohr.
25 Q. Yes. 25 Q. Very well.

45 47

1 A. -- contains some fairly odd things, like, for example, 1 A. In fact, ['mpretty sure I didn't, because I was careful

2 implying that Vladislav Surkov is one of my sources, 2 not to discuss the detalls of memoranda with him,

3 which seems bizarre in the extreme. So I'm not saying 3 Q. I mean,it is an extraordinary allegation, whoever has

4 1 didn't say that. 1 remember that Mr Simpson told me 4 made it, whether it is you or Mr Simpson, that the

5 that, but, again, there are problems with this write-up. 5 source’s Russian-American organisation has used the

6 Q. Youaccept that there's absolutely no truth in that ) Alfa Bank server?

7 statement at all? 7 A, AsI havesaid, it's not my information.

B A. 1 don't -- no, I don't accept there's no truth in it. 8 Q. Youknow nothingaboutthls allegation, Is that the --

9 I accept it's what was reported to me in good faith by 9 A. No, I believe it is MrSimpson. Mr Simpson had
10 Mr Simpson. 10 2 meeting with Bruce Ohr, I believe in December
11 Q. How doyouknow itwas in good faith? 11 or November 2016. This is not emanated from us. We
12 A, I've worked with him for many years. 12 never produced any intelligence on the actual -- if you
13 Q. I see. 13 like, the technical aspects of this issue.

14 Let’s lock at another example, the 14 Q. Well, it appears that one of your sources has told

15 Inspector General's report at {D/131/155). This deals 15 someone that their organisation has used the Alfa Bank

16 with 2 meeting that you had with Bruce Ohr, whoI think 16 server?

e § worked for the Department of Justice? 17 A. No, not one of my sources, Mr Tomlinson. I think one of
18 A. Stll does, I think. 18 Mr Simpson’s.

19 Q. sull does, and features heavily in this report. 1. Q. One of Mr Simpson's sources?

20 At 259 -- 20 A I think so. That's myunderstanding of this.

21 A. Mmhmm. 21 Q. Verywell.

22 Q. Foornote 259: 22 Let's now look at Memorandum 112, please [A/1/1].

23 ".. according to an FBI FD-302 [I think that’s one 23 I suggest to you, Mr Steele, this is a hastily prepared,
24 of their, as it were, internal memoranda], that Steele 24 slapdash document; that's right, isn't it?

25 had told Ohr that the Alfa Bank server wasa link to the 25 A It's not a slapdash document;it’s a fair reflection of

46
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1 what my experienced source reported to me, 1 Q. Whenyousigned the witness statement --
2 Q. Becauseyoucan't even spell the name correctly of an 2 A, Yes.
3 organisation that you claim to have extensive knowledge 3 Q. -- that's whatyousaid?
4 of. You misspell it throughout. 4 A Yes.
5 A. That's a Russianist issue, where the lerter, circle with 5 Q. That's not true, is it?
6 a line through it, is usually -- can be transcribed as 6 A. I hadn't read it.
7 PHor as F, your Lordship, and has been, I think, in 7 Q. Youhadn't read whart, the witness statement?
8 many cases, 8 A. No, I had read the witness statement.
9 Q. It's nota good start on it being a careful document, is 9 Q. Youhadn't read your own memorandum?
10 I, that youcan't spell the name of the company you are 10 A. I hadread my own memorandum. I think there are
11 writing about correctly? 11 documents in the bundle that relate to Mr Govorun's
12 A. It's regremable, burt, as I say, if youlook at the 12 employment with Alfa.
13 translation of the word "Alfa” from Russian into 13 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Ithink what counselis purtting to you Is
14 English, your Lordship, many times you will find it is 14 that when you signed that statement in your witness
15 translated as PH. The lerter F in Russian is usually 15 statement you had seen things that contradicted what was
16 transcribed as PH. 16 In the memoranda.
17 Q. MrGoveorunis mentioned on two occasions. He features 17 MR TOMLINSON: Yes.
18 quite heavily in this memorandum, doesn't he? 18 A. I hadseenan assertion by your side that thar wasthe
19 A. He certainly features. 19 case.
20 Q. Firstly, in the second bullet polnt of the summary. 20 MR TOMLINSON: Had you not read the disclosure in the case?
21 A Yes. 21 A. I'mnotsure [ had read everything.
22 Q. Thenin paragraph-- effectively the whole of 22 Q. Yousee, MrGovorun's employment record was disclosed.
23 paragraph 2; yes? 23 A, Mmhmm.
24 A Yes, yes. 24 Q. Whichshowed that large parts of this are obviously
25 Q. In your witness statement -- I don't wantto turn it up, 25 incorrect.
49 51
1 unless you disagree -- yousay that in relation to the 1 A. I don't think it showslarge parts are incorrect;
2 statements about Mr Govorun: 2 I think it shows there is a problem of chronology in
3 "I have seen nothing 1o suggest it was factually 3 terms of Mr Govorun's employment with Alfa in the 1990s
4 incorrect . 4 and the time when President Putin was the Deputy Mayor
5 Is that still your evidence? 5 of St Petersburg.
6 A. At that time, yes. 6 Q. Well, I"'ll go through it, Mr Steele, and give you the
7 Q. The time that you produced your witness statements, in 7 opportunity.
8 cther words, two weeks ago? 8 A Mm
9 A, Yeah, I think that's right, yes. 9 Q. The first -- second bullet point:
10 Q. Areyousure about that, Mr Steele? I'm giving you the io "Key intermediary in Putin-Alpha relationship
11 opportunity for you now 1o correct your mistakes. 11 identified as Oleg Govorun, currently Head of
12 A. No, I am saying what my position is, that the 12 a Presidential Administration department
13 documentation, there is -- I think there's documentation 13 A Yes.
14 in the bundle about this, so that's probably relevant, 14 Q. Thatstatementis incorrect. He's not head of --
15 but I was certainly not aware of it at the time. ik in 2016 he was not the head of a presidential
16 Q. No, no, I'mnotasking you that. In your ownwitness 16 administration department, Indeed he has never been the
7 statement you say: 17 head of a presidential administraticn department.
18 "1 have seen nothing to suggest that this is 18 A. Hewasresponsible for relations with CIS countries,
19 factually Incorrect.” 19 which think was a department. I mean, again, it
20 A Yes. 20 depends how you -- which word in Russian are we talking
21 Q. That's not true, Is Ir, MrSteele? 21 about here?
22 A, No, I hadn't seen, at that time. 22 Q. . throughoutthe 1990s, the Alpha executive who
23 Q. No,no, no. This is your witness statement -- 23 delivered illicit cash directly to Putin
24 A. Are we talking about now or when Isigned the witness 24 So that means from 1991 to 1999. That’s untrue,
25 statement or what? 25 isn't it?

50

52

Opus 2 International
Official Court Reporters

transcripts@opus2.com
+44 (0)20 3008 5900

Opus 2 International
Official Court Reporters

transcripts@opus2.com
+44 (0)20 3008 5900



March 18, 2020 Petr Aven, Mikhail Fridman and [...] Business Intelligence L| Day 3 March 18, 2020 Petr Aven, Mikhail Fridman and [...] Business Intelligence Limited Day 3
1 A. I'mreporting what the source said to us. 1 A Mmhmm. 1 Q. -- so afterwards? 1 this happened when Putin was Deputy Mayor of
2 Q. MrSteele, I am notasking you about what the source 2 Q. -- onthe Kremlin website, which responds to a search on 2 A 1 think it says, if yougo back to the summary [A/1/1), 2 St Petersburg; correct?
3 said to you. I'm askingyouabout your assertien, in 3 his name. 3 I think it refers to the 1990s, doesn't it? 3 A, Well, it says throughour the 1990s so it would include
4 evidence: 4 A Yes. 4 Q. I think, MrStecle, the summary is supposed to be 4 the time when he was Deputy Mayor of St Petersburg,
5 "1 have seen nothing to suggest it was factually 5 Q. Weseefrom 1993 to 1995 he worked in various companies 5 summarising what it says in the memorandum, not 5 MR]JUSTICE WARBY: Is thata convenient moment?
6 incorrect . 6 in Moscow. 1995, he was a manager's assistant, project 6 introducing new facts. 6 MR TOMLINSON: I1was — my Lord, I had my eye on the time
7 A. Which was factually Incorreet? 7 manager, then specialist in Rosprom. 1997 to 2000, 7 A. It is what] wastold by the source. 7 andI'll stop.
8 Q. This -- the statement about Mr Govorun. 8 deputy head -- manager, deputy head of the 8 Q. Soyoursourcesays this to you, “Mr Steele, Mr Putin 8 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Good. Right. We'll take a ten-minute
8 A, I have -- which statements, sorry. to be precise? 9 GR department, vice-president of Alfa Bank. 9 was getting illicit cash from Aven and Fridman in the £l break.
10 Q. Thestatementthat he was delivering illicit cash on 10 A. Yes. 10 1990s when he was Deputy Mayor of St Petersburg”; and 10 As T said before, don't talk to anyone about the
13 behalf of Mr Aven and Mr Fridman. 11 Q. Yes? 11 you say to him, "Well, what does your source know 11 case, even if you were tempted.
12 A. I've not seen anything to suggest that's untrue. 12 A Yes. 12 about -- what dees your own sub-source know about 12 A Yes.
13 Q. Right. Let's go downto paragraph2. The last two 13 Q. If youhaddonean internet search, you would have 13 this 7", and he says, "Trust me, he is a high-ranking 13 (1146 am)
14 lines of paragraph2: 14 immediately realised that your statement was wrong, 14 official , he knows all these things " 14 (Short Break)
15 ".. during the 1990s Govorun had been Head of 15 wouldn't you? 15 A conversation something like that took place? 15 (1157 am)
16 Government Relations at Alpha Group .. 16 A. Well, wedid do an internet search. We were looking at, 16 A. Sure, but that doesn't rule out that people occasionally 16 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Before you continue, Mr Tomlinson, can
17 A Mmhmm 17 1 remember - I do remember specifically that he had 17 get things wrong. 17 1 just mention something which I think you're both aware
18 Q. False. 18 accompanied Putin to the funeral of Karimov of 18 Q. Andthen-- 18 of, that there's beena request by a journalist for
19 A I think he wasdeputy head. So, yes, he wasn't head, 18 Uzbekistan In his government capacity at that time. 19 A Sources get things wrong. 19 access to Mr Steele’s witness statement. It may be
20 Q. Hewasn't head of government-- he was never head of 20 That was the one thing that 1 remember checking and 20 Q. Yes, indeed. Thenyoudo a check and you discover that 20 a convenient moment just to deal with that.
21 government relations at Alfa Group and during the 1990s 21 checking our open source, 21 Mr Govorun, actually, there is no cross-over in time, 21 Therule is that, unless the court otherwise
22 he was a manager in the government relations department. 22 Q. Soyouchecked that he had gone to Karimov's funeral, 22 So a rational person, Mr Steele, then thinks, "Perhaps 22 directs, a witness statement Is available for inspection
23 He subsequently became the deputy head. 23 but you didn't check that he was in St Petersburg at the 23 my source has got It wrong"? 23 during the course of the trial, unless -- is opento
24 A Hewasdeputy head in the 1990s though. 24 time that he was supposed 1o be handing over illicit 24 A, I never saw the cross-over problem at the time. At 24 inspection during the course of the trial , unless the
25 Q. Soyousay that that's accurate, do you, MrSteele? 25 cash? 25 the -- 25 court otherwise directs. So unless anyone asks for
53 55 57 59
1 A I say that he was deputy head, rather than head. 1 A, All I remember iswhat came up in the open source check 1 Q. Becauseyoudidn't do the searches you claim to have 1 a direction that the witness statement is not 1o be open
2 Q. " in reality, the 'driver' and "bag carrier’ used by 2 that we did. 2 done. 2 to inspection, then it is. The mechanism for that is
3 Fridman and Aven to deliver large amounts of illicit 3 Q. Yousee, going backto [A/1/1) - 3 A. No, I did certaln searches and I sald what wehad 3 another matter. [ think this case is on the CE-File
4 cash to the Russian president, at that time depury Mayor 4 A. I waslooking at his current job, his current role. 4 searched on. We had searched on his current role and 4 system, is it not? It would be before all cases
5 of St Petersburg” 5 Q. Thestate -- if -- assuming in your favour, Mr Steele, 5 the fact that he had gone with Putin to Karimov's 5 automatically wenton. but I think they have all been
6 That's untrue, Isn't 1t? 6 that you have faithfully transcribed what your source 6 funeral in Uzbekistan. 6 migrated on to the CE-File.
7 A. It -- he wasn't working as deputy head of Alfa’s T has told you-- 7 Q. Isn't it an absolutely elementary thing to do, 7 Perhaps 1 can just say that myunderstanding is that
8 government relations department at the same time, it 8 A Yes. 8 Mr Steele: someone tells you something which includes 8 under the Civil Procedure Rules, anyone who wishes has
9 seems, that Putin was Mayor of St Petersburg, S Q. And the source has said, “Christopher, I have 9 checkable historical facts. You can check those 9 a right of inspection of that witness statement and
10 Q. So it follows that he can't have been delivering Illicit 10 discovered --" or Mr Steele, Sir, however he addresses 10 historical facts to see whether the other things they 10 should apply to Queen's Bench listing or go on CE-File
1t cash on behalf of Alfa when Putin was the Deputy Mayor 11 you, "I have discovered that in the -- my sub-source 11 are telling you might be true or not? 11 in the usual way to obrain a copy.
12 of St Petersburg, doesn't it? 12 tells me that in the 1990s Oleg Govorun used to hand 12 A. It's a reasonable assertion, yes. 12 MRTOMLINSON: My Lord, I am sure that that's entirely
13 A. I don't think that follows, but it may be an inference. 13 over illicit cash on behalf of Avenand Fridman to 13 Q. Andyoudidn't do it? 13 right. 1 have to say that [ have always taken the
14 Q. Youaccept that MrPutin stopped being Deputy Mayor of 14 Vladimir Putin when he was Deputy Mayor of 14 A. No, wedid an open source search. We just didn't come 14 view -- two things: first of all, a witness statement
15 St Petersburg in June 1996? 15 St Petersburg” 15 across the decument that you referred -- 15 stands as the witness's evidence in-chief, so it is --
16 A. I do, yes. 16 Is that -- he said to you something like that? 16 Q. Whatl don't understand, Mr Steele, is howin this court 16 in the old days you would hear -- someone in court would
17 Q. Youaccept that Mr Govorun was first employed by 17 A, Not just when he was Deputy Mayor of St Petersburg. 17 you can assert, "I have seen nothing to suggest that 1T hear it all, and so having a witness statement is just
18 Alfa Bank as a manager in the department of 18 I think it’s during the 1990s. 18 this was factually inaccurate”, when the actual facts 18 a short way of dealing with it.
18 communications on 3 March 19977 19 Q. Oh I sce. So go to the sccond page of this memorandum 1% that are given to you by your source are obviously 19 Secondly, although perhaps it deprives Her Majesty’s
20 A, Yes. 20 [A/1/2). So you have inaccurately recorded what your 20 false? 20 Court Service of a small fee, in general it is probably
21 Q. Yourtold his Lordship earlier that you had done some 21 source has told, you have you? 21 A. 1 don't agree that the facts given to me by the source 21 more convenient for a journalist just to be given
22 searches on the internet about Mr Govorun. 22 A No I -- 22 are false. [ agree that onc of the points madels 22 a papercopy in court if oneis available.
23 A Yes, 23 Q. You're now saying it was during the 1990s, not just when 23 false . 23 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Yes. I am not concerned with being the
24 Q. Lookat (D/148/1),please. This Mr Govorun's biography 24 he was Deputy Mayor of St Petersburg -- 24 Q. No, the point you have recorded, assuming you were 24 overseer of collection of fees If a party is willing to
25 page, produced from the Kremlin -- 25 A. I think it -- 25 accurately recording it, Is that your source told you 25 disclose it, but I don't think the rule requires a party
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to provide a copy If they don't wishto. The right is
10 obtain inspection I think from the court records. so
that's the point that I was seeking to make. Sometimes
parties prefer not to velunteer documents, even if they
are available for inspection, but that’s a matter for
Mr Steele and Orbis.

MR MILLAR: All of the abovel think Is correct.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Good. Right.

MR TOMLINSON: Mr Steele, I now want to ask you just very
briefly aboutthe use of the word " illicit ™ in
T h 2 of the dum. [A/1/1) Isthara word
that wasused -- is that your word or is that the word

of your source?

A. I imagine it's the word of the source, to the best of my
recollection .

Q. Andis It your evidence that, really, by " illicit " in
this context, you simply mean patronage payments of an
informal nature as opposed to anything illegal ?

A. Yes -- well, it's not clear. It's the word [llicit . It
means it's not money, I think, your Lordship, which has
passed through formal accounting procedure.

Q. I think it is suggested on behalf -- it has been
suggested on behalf of Orbis that really -- I put it in
summary, but in St Petersburg in the 1990s things were
very different and it was quite common for money to

61
be -- cash/money to be passed around informally in a way

that wasn't -- didn't constitute any kind of illegal
conduct. Is that your --

I

That's my view, yes.

Q. Andis it -- are you-- is it your evidence in this
court that that's what was meant by the use -- what
you -- whetherthis is legally relevant is a matter for
his Lordship in due course, but that you're suggesting
that that's what you meant by using the word ~ illicit *
in the memorandum?

A. T was quoting what -- directly what the source had told
me and I had written down from the source.

Q. Well, a moment ago you were imagining that that was the
position. Are you now saying that that was the
position?

A. Sorry, what--

Q. Your evidence was, "I imagine that that's what
happened™?

A. Sorry. It waswhathappened.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes, I think he said both, really, that
it washis recollection and that he imagined it.

Were these conversations in English or Russian?

A. The conversation between me -~

MR JUSTICE WARBY: With your source?

A. Berween me and the source -
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MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes.

A, -- werein English,

MR TOMLINSON: You see, Mr Steele, the posiden is, if this
is really fairly run-of-the-mill and standard behaviour
for Russia in 1990, why does it feature so heavily in
your memerandum? Why is it of any significance at all?

A. Because It establishes a -- perhaps reportedly
establishes a link between Mr Putin and the plaintiffs .

Q. But there was-- everybody knew that there was a link
between Mr Aven and President Putin.  Had you done a few
more internet searches, you would have found that out.

A, But not involving Mr Govorun, I think.

Q. Well, there's no link involving Mr Govorun whatever.,
That's purely made up, Mr Steele, as you know.

A. No, I don't know that,

Q. Well, the only evidence you have to the contrary is what
the -- is the incorrect statements made to you by your
source.

A, No, Mr Govorun was working for Alfa in the late 1990s
and went en to work for Mr Putin.

Q. Correct. Probablyalong with many tens or hundreds of
other people.

A. Not --

Q. But that's nothing to do with illicit cash.

A. Notat that level.

63

Q. But do you see the point I'm making, that whatI'm
suggesting to you is the prominence you give to this
allegation shows you regard it as a serlous one?

A. Tt's providing background to a relationship between
Mr Putin and the plaintiffs .

Q. Is that your evidence, it is simply a matter of
background showing the relationship? Is that your
evidence to his Lordship?

A, The question we were asked by Mr Simpson and his client
was: what links were there between the Alfa Group and
Mr Putin.

Q. Sodoyou still ablde by your evidence -- this Is at
paragraph 96, I think it is, of your statement [C/4/24):

"1 therefore considered (and consider) .
So that's the present tense when the statement was
signed:

.. sentence 4 .

Which is the sentence to do with using Mr Govorun as
a "driver” and "bag carrler” to dellver large amounts of
illicit cash to President Putin when he was Deputy Mayor
of St Petersburg:

. to bea fair, accurate and well-founded
assessment ..

Is that still your evidence, MrSteele? I'll give
you the flnal opportunity to admit that you got it
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wrong.

I got oneaspect of it -- wegot -- well, not I got it
wrong. It is the source and the sub-scurce who were
reporting this to me, and obviously how it was
reflected , but 1 concede that one aspect of this is
wrong, which is that Mr Putin’s tenure in St Petersburg
did not overlap with Mr Govorun's formal tenure within
Alfa.

And that's as far as you're preparedto go in support
of -- In withdrawing this allegation, is it, Mr Steele?
Yes.

You say that the intended audience -- paragraph 89, so
the previous page [C/4/23). The intended audience for
CR112 would interpret the -- youden't believe the
intended audience would interpret the sentence as an
allegation of criminality?

Yes.

Who do you mean by the intended audience?

The people I disclosed it to,

No, no. Youdidn't intend -- when you produced it, you
didn't intend 1o disclose it to MrStrobe Talbott and
all those other people later on?

No, to the FBl and to the client of Fusion.

So the intended audience was -- you didn’t write it for
the FBI; you wrote it for your client.

65

No, but we had had an instruction in August,

late August 2016, your Lordship, to provide all our
reporting to the FBL

Well, I'1l come cn to that, Mr Steele.

Yeah.

You know whatI'll say about that In due course.

Yes, sure. But that was the instruction.

Well, I'1l come on to that, but the intended audience
was Fusion and Fusion's ultimate client, wasn't it?
No, and the FBL

Well, put the FBI to oneside, Let's agree to differ
about the FBI for the moment.

Okay.

But the intended -- you were being paid to produce this
document by the ultimate client of --

Perkins Coie.

No. No, no. You were being paid by the Hillary for
America campaigin, as you knew. The money was coming
from them; they were the ultimate client.

I -- I'mnotsure that that's true.

Well, it wasn't coming out of Perkins Coie's own pocket,
was it?

I believe we now know thatin fact the DNC was the
ultimate client for this, not Hillary Clinton. I think
there's a difference, I think.
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Let's not argue about which particular Democratic Party
institution it was. You knew it was some Democratic
Party institution ; correct?

I knew -- yes.

So are you saying -- is it your evidence that

a Democratic Party institution , whoever it was, would
understand the nuances of patronage payments In

St Petersburg in the 1990s? Is that your evidence?

1 believe that the Perkins Coie lawyers would have known
that, the clients would have known that. T have no
evidence that they passed this on to anyene beyond that.
That wasn't my question, Mr Steele.

‘What was your question?

You say that the intended audience would interpret --
would not -- you're talking about how the intended
audience would interpret this memorandum.

Yes.

And I'm saying to you that the intended audience was the
person who was paying your bills, namely the ultimate
client?

1 disagree with that, The intended audience was the
Perkins Coie client and the FBL.

So when you produced the memoranda, your client, who Is
paying your bills, is not your intended audience; is
that the position?

67

No, the client is -- the client actually was Fusion but
their client was Perkins Coie, not the DNC or Hillary
for America.
Can we go back to the memorandum at [A/1/1} -
Sorry, just to put on that point, if I may,
your Lordship, Fusion would have had very much the
sophisticated understanding of this issue in Russia in
the 1990s. So they're cne of the filters thar this
stuff wentbackto the Perkins Coie ultimate client.
But they could and indeed did hand this out to all kinds
of people, as we know?
Not -- not to my understanding at the time, no.
We'll come back to that.

You also say that Mr Fridman had recently met
directly with Putin in Russia.
Mm hmm.
Is your evidence -- and you said -- I think you said
earlier to his Lordship that you did a Google search and
discovered that he had been at a meeting of the Congress
of Russian Union Industrialists . Is it your evidence
that you meant by saying he had recently met Putin
directly in Russia that six months earlier he had been
1o a meeting of the Congress of Russian -- the Russian
Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs?
No, that's not my evidence. My evidence is that what
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was reported to me by the source appeared to be
credible, given that open source record.
So the fact he had been to a plenary session of the
Russian equivalent of the CBI was evidence that he had
met Putin directly: is that whatyou're saying?
No, it meant that he was at meetings which were
involving Mr Putin.

And you used the word "recent”™?
"Recently” and " directly ” were the words you used,
MrSteele. Notme. Youused them.
Yes, I believe that to be true.
And --
Certainly what was reported to us by the source and
sub-source,
The truth is that, like all -- I think you have now
accepted all your reports, this memorandum contains
2 number of serious inaccuracies, doesn't it, Mr Steele?
I think it contains one inaccuracy.
So, despite the evidence of the claimants in this court,
you prefer the multiple hearsay evidence from your
sub-source to what they say; is that whatyou're saying?
I had faith, your Lordship, in my source and sub-source
to report the situaton as they understood it to me,
faithfully and truthfully .
1 want to now ask you about some of the -- your claim

69

that the disclosure of this memorandum was required for
national security purposes.

Mm hmm.

1 have already referred you to your company’s formal
legal further information of 1 August2018. That's
[A/12/3]. Sorry, that’s the bit I wantto look at, but
it begins at [A/12/1], That's signed as true on your
behalf -- on behalf of Orbis by your solicitor .

Right.

You have seen this document before?
I have, yes.

And do you say that it’s true?

Yes.

So if welook at the bottom, “Under paragraph 27

“The disclosures referred to were required for
the purpose of safeguarding the national security .."

That's the statement that Orbis makes.

Yes.
And the request is, at 8:

“State, so that the Claimants may understand the
nature of the Defendant’s case, the factual basis on
which it is alleged that the [memorandum disclosures
are] required for the purposes of safeguarding the

national security
Turn over the page. Andsoon,

70

@ -1 o e W

el e el =
W~ ;s W oW

20

22
23
24

o =1 oy U W

w

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

Then your response is that there were allegatlons of
Russian interference, including links berween
individuals associated with the Trump campaign, Russian
operatives with links to the Kremlin.

Mm hmm.

Any such interference would be likely to constitute

a serlous threat to democracy and national security in
the US, and so on?

Yes.

Yes?

Yes.

You then say -- your company says:

"Memorandum 112 was concerned with such links."

That is to say links between individuals associated
with the Trump campaign and Russian operatives?

Yes.

That's not true, is it?

It is, because it arose out of the tasking that came
from the Trump Tower-Alfa server issue.

Mr Steele, let me just ask you the question again. It
is a matter of ordinary English:

"Memorandum 112 was concerned with such links."

It was not, was [t?

I don't know
how you would describe "concerned”, your Lordship, but

1t was a background context to such links.

71

to me, that Is "link "

Then you -- the next answer -- unfortunately the
subparagraphs aren’t numbered, but the next answer seeks
to explain why links between the claimants and the
Russian President were material to the allegations

ou
Yes.
And then It suggests -- It says that:

ed above; yes?

"Internet traffic data suggested that a computer
server of an entity in which the Claimants have an
interest, Alfa Bank, had been communicating with
a computer server linked to the Trump Organisation.”
Yes.

So far, so good. Doyou stil maintaln that the next
three -- four sentences have any relevance to this case?
I'll give you the opportunity to -- just read them.
‘Which ones, sir?

The next ones:

"Alfa Bank instructed an individual,

Mr Brian Benczkowski, to investigate the allegations .."

And if we go over the page (A/12/5), Do you accept
that all this material about Mr Benczkowski has nothing
‘whatever to do with the case? If youdo, then we can

move on.

25 A It was just pointing out that Mr Benczkowski had
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investigated this at the same time that he was involved
in the Trump transition. That's all.
Yes, but this was six months later.
Sure.
Mr Benczkowski was a partner in Kirkland and Ellis ,
which was a firm of lawyers which had been instructed to
look at this. It has nothing whatever to do with your
preparation of the memorandum, has it?
No, it hasn't, no.
No. Thank you

Then It says:

“Memoranda i 112 were

from the Defendant by individuals with official

responsibilities ...
Etc, for the safeguarding.

Yes.

Is that true, Mr Steele?

Yes.

Just tell me, who are the Individuals who requested it

fromyou? Requested thls memorandum from you?
The FBI, who requested all our memorandum - or
memoranda -

Yes, well, I'll comecnto the FBL

Sure, yeah,

Just put them to one side.
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And the senior British national security official whowe
dealt with.

You approached him?

Yes, but he -- I approached him. We had a conversation
and he then requested that I provided him with all our
memoranda.

So you tout you memoranda to one of your former
colleagues. That's not him requesting the memoranda
from you.

No. He specifically requested all our memoranda in hard

copy.

After you had gone to him and said --
Sure.

-- excuse me--

There’s an issue -- I'd like to --

-- whoeverit is, Sir Humphrey: "Excuse me,

Sir Humphrey, I have these memoranda which show
extraordinary things about President Trump and Russia®,
and he says, "Cive mea copy™?

Yes. Hesays, "Canyou--"

So that's ar your instigation, not his?

No, it's at his request.

You sought a meeting with the State Departmentas part
of a wider effort to disseminate these memoranda to
people in Washington, didn't you?
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No, I didn't. They soughta meeting with me.

Can you look at {D/131/154], please, Lookat the second
paragraph.

Mm hmm.

"We asked Kavalec [that's the person who produced the
note] about the meeting with Steele. She stated that
Nuland did not ask to meet Steele and that Nuland
requested she attend the meeting because Nuland did not
want to devote time to it. It wasXKavalec’s
understanding that Steele sought the meeting with Nuland
as part of a wider effort to disseminate his election
report findings to persons in Washington, DC. She
stated that during the meeting Steele expressed
frustration that the FBI had not acted on his reporting
and explained that when he first offered information to
the FBI he found a lack of interest”

The meeting was set up by a State Department official
called John Weiner.

At your request?

No, at his request -- his suggestion. He invited us in
to meet, as I understood it, at her request, Assistant
Secretary of State Nuland.

As a result of your contact with the State Department,
then Strobe Talbort got in touch with you and said he
had heard about your memoranda and he wanted to show it
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te other people?
I think Strobe Talbott had got in touch with us much
earlier than that. I remember taking a phone call from
him, your Lordship, earlier in the summer, in which he
said that he wasawarethat I had -- he spoke in fairly
cryptic terms, but he was aware that we had material of
relevance to the US election.

A little bit of background if I may, your Lordship
on that.

Both National Security Advisor at the time,
Susan Rice, and Assistant Secretary of State,
Victoria Nuland, who were the key policymakers on
Russia, had been colleagues of Mr Talbott, and I had --
although he didn't state it explicitly . oneor either or
both of them had briefed him on the work we had been
doing.
He had been out of government for 15years. Mr Talbott
had been the Deputy Secretary of State in 2001
He was a Russian expert. He was consulted, I belleve,
by both National Security Advisor Rice and Assistant
Secretary Nuland, both of whom had worked with him in
the Brookings Institution, your Lordship, befere they
entered government under President Obama.
Look at paragraph 53 of your witness statement at
(C/4/12], please. I mean, what you say there is:
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"I .. provideda copy .. to Strobe Talbott In
early November 2016
Yes.
You then talk about his history and so on.
Mrm hmm.
"Mr Talbott approached me and I understood that he had
been speaking with John Kerry .. and
Victoria Nuland .V
Yeah.
So, onthe face of it, it looks like youare saying he
approached you in November?
No, he -- well, he -- no, he approached me criginally in
I think it was Augustand thenI contacted him in
early November, after T had spoken to Sir Andrew Wood -
in fact, with Sir Andrew Wood.
Where does that appearin your witness statement?
So, what we're saying is that he contacted me originally
earlier in the summer. I contacted him. Hethen --
Sorry, where does it say that? Sorry, show me that
paragraph, Mr Steele.
‘What do we say here .. Yes. Heapproached me. So
that's absolutely right. So he called me in my office
in, I think, August, saying that he was aware, he had
heard from colleagues, that we had been working on the
election and we had interesting information on it and
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that we should stay In touch.

And in November 2016 you discussed this with your friend
Sir Andrew Wood; is that correct?

Yes.

And Andrew Wood then spoke to Mr David Kramer at

a conference in Nova Scotia?

That was sometime afterwards actually, yes. But "yes”
is the answer. Sir Andrew came back to me about three
weeks later and he said that he was going to this
conference and he felt it important that he spoke to

Mr Kramer about this issue, because Mr Kramer was an
advisor and would have been at the conference with
Senator John McCain.

Mr Kramer actually wasa private citizen who worked for
a think tank.

He was a former Assistant Secretary of State. Hewasan
expert on Russia. He was somebody who Sir Andrew had
dealt with for many years, and he was effectively
Senator McCain's advisor on Russia.

Yousee, all these -- all these disclosures for the
purposes of national security were, in effect,
instigated by you, weren't they? It wasn't the position
that the natlonal security officials were saying, "This
is a huge national security issue™; it was you saying,
“Look, this is very interesting ", and them saying,
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“Well, okay, give meacopy™

No, I disagree with that. I think they were all
requested by these people. In fact, it was Sir Andrew’s
Idea to approach Mr Kramer.

You having approached Sir Andrew?

Well, I had confided in Sir Andrew earlier in the
summer. But it washis proposal. He broughtto me the
fact that he was going to this conference in

Nova Scotia. Senator McCain he knew was going to be
there, aleng with Mr Kramer, your Lordship, and his
proposal was that he would speak to Mr Kramer at the
conference and, hopefully, Senator McCain.

I mean, the position, MrSteele, you had absolutely no
idea how widely these memoranda were going to be
circulated, did you?

My understanding was that the memoranda were not
circulating at all amongst-- outside of government, if
you like .

I mean, Fusion could disclose, or Fusion's client,
ultimate client, could disclose the memoranda to whoever
they wanted, couldn’t they?

1 don't know what the terms of thelr confldentiality and
privilege agreement was with Fusion, but T would deubt
that's the case, not least because, in my understanding,
what I was teld by Fusion, your Lordship, was that they
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didn't actually give the memoranda to Perkins Coie.
They just briefed them on them orally. Andin fact
I wasat one of the briefings where that happened.
I mean, lock at (C/4/8), please. Yousay, in
paragraph 40 at the bottom:

"Fusion understood that they were not permitted to
give copies of the pre-election reports that they
received fromus, whetherhard or digital copies, to
anyone clse without our consent.”

Yes.
That wasn't a term of your contract with them, was it?
It wasa term of my-- our confidentiality agreement
with Mr Simpson that was signed in 2020 and was still
extant at -- stll is extant.
That was a personal agreement between Orbls and
Mr Simpson. Nothing to do with Fusion.
Mr Simpson is the majority owner and the director of
Fuslon and therefore It would apply to -- in this case.
You understood that Fusion could disclose the memoranda
to its client if appropriate; correct?
I think If appropriate and if they asked us permission.
Well, look at paragraph 57, please (C/4/13):

“. intended for a very limited audience, namely
Fuslon (and lts cllent, If appropriate) ..
Yes.
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1 Q. Sothey could disclose ir to their client? 1 halfway down that paragraph, you say you met with the
2 A. No, only if they consulted us beforehand, 2 FEL in July.
3 Q. I mean,the fact that -- 3 A, Yeah
4 A, That's taken -- sorry, Mr Tomlinson. That's taken as 4 Q. Andyouagreed to provide:
5 read under the terms of engagement and the 5 ".. all the information gathered to that date and
6 confidentiality agreement we had signed with Mr Simpson. 6 continued to pass on these reports to the FBI through to
7 Q. The fact is that Fusion controlled whatwas done with 7 October 2016. This included CR112, which was likely
8 the information in these reports; isn't that right? B disclosed to the FBI within a few days of it being
9 A. I'mnotsure whatthe legal status of that is, but the S shared with Fusion ."
10 understanding was that they had to consult with us on 10 A. Mmhmm.
11 every time that they deployed these things. 11 Q. Sowhenyousay"likely ", that meansyou don't remember?
12 Q. Yousee, MrSteele -- 12 A. No, likely within a few days, We don't have, because
13 A. Howtheydeployed them. 13 our records were wiped, conclusive proof that that
14 Q. -- I say that because that's your own statement to the 14 memorandum was sent to our contact. It's a mystery 1o
15 public in your press release. If youlock at [D/133/1]). 15 me, because it's not just this report, but three others,
16 A. Yesh 16 my Lord, all of whichare importantto the
17 Q. 1 think it's over the page (D/133/2). Point 2: 17 investigation -- it's not as if they're marginal
18 “Fusion paid for the work, owned the intellectual 18 reports: one of them concerns meeting between
19 property, and controlled what was done with the 19 President Putin and ex-president Yanukovych of Ukralne
20 information in the reports.” 20 about Mr Manafort -- do not seem to have arrived at FBI
21 A. Mmhmm. 21 headquarters.
22 Q. Theydidn't require your consent. Onyour own public 22 In fact, as background to this, your Lordship, also,
23 statements they controlled the Intellectual property and 23 even the report that I gave to my FEI contact in early
24 what was done with the information. 24 July 2016 does not seem to have reached the headquarters
25 A. Theyowned the intellectual property, they were able to 25 investigation team until at least 19 September.
81 83
1 brief from it to their client, but they were still 1 Q. That's because he had doubts about your credibility ,
2 covered by the -- this confidentiality agreement that we 2 Mr Steele?
3 had signed with them in 2010. 3 A, No, I don't believe that's true, I mean--
4 Q. Well, let's just look at that, please. It's at 4 Q. It's clear fromthe Horowltz report --
5 (D/32/1]. 5 A. No--
6 A Mmhmm. 6 Q. -- that the reason he was taking, as we lawyers say,
7 Q. It's a formal undertaking from Glenn Simpson personally T instructions to find out whatto do with this material?
B relating to the termination of his work with Orbis 8 A. Thatdoesn't imply that he had doubts about my
9 Business Intelligence and associated companies, and it 9 reliability . 1 would argue the opposite, given that we
10 Is about disclosing trade secrets. 10 had been working with him for three years.
11 A. Andan obligation of confidence to any third party 11 Q. Lookat [D/131/139), please. So 1'm sureyou're
12 during or after my engagement. 12 familiar with this. Footnote 231:
13 Q. Andit refers to confidential reports and research taken 13 “The following are reports with select highlights
14 by or on behalf of either. 14 that Steele did not furnish to the FBI ."
15 A. Mmhmm. 15 A Yeah,
16 Q. It has no-- onthe face of It, nobearing ar all on 16 Q. Then if wegoover the page to (D/131/140], in that
1T research taken by or on behalf of Perkins Coie or the 147 footnote one of themis Report 1127
18 Democratic National Committee. 18 A, Yes.
19 A Our client was Fusion. 19 Q. Thenif welookat 155 (D/131/155). Feomote 259 deals
20 Q. Oh, you're a subcontractor? 20 with Report 112, and it says:
21 A. No, our client was Fusion. 21 "The Crossfire Hurricane team received Report 112 on
22 Q. Youhave said repeatedly that this memorandum was 22 or about November 6, 2016, from a Mother Jones
23 disclosed to the FBL 23 journalist through then FBI General Counsel
24 A Mmhmm. 24 James Baker."
25 Q. Canyoulook at (C/4/9), please. Paragraph 43, about 25 Do you see that?
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I see it, yes.

Did you give that memorandum to Mother Jones?
No, I didn't.

Someone must have done, mustn't they?

Lo VIR N )
o P opr

According to this, yes, but not us, andI had no
knowledge of that at the time.

You spoke to Mother Jones?

I did.

You read to them from your reports?

No, I didn't read to them from my reports.

o
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They appear to quote your reports?

They appearto, yes.

But that's --

And T never read my reportto themand ] certainly

B e e
wmos W
P2 O e

didn't give my reports, your Lordship, to Mother Jones.
The only contact I had was one Skype call on, I think,
31 October.

Q. Lookat page 213, please [D/131/213). Foomote 319:

“These were the Steele Reports ..~

Andthen it lists the report -- the numbers of your

PR
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reports.

Mm hmm.

Q. "FBI records show that the FBI had not previously
received [and it lists various reports, including 112]
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25 from Steele
85
1 A, It's like a mysteryto me because that's more reports
2 than were in the dossier. 1 think there’s 20 reports
3 referred to there.
4 Q. Well --
5 A Soit's slightly confusing.
€& Q. Well, if youremember, the meeting you had with the FBL
7 in Rome--
8 A. Sure.
S Q. -- records youas giving them areport which doesn't
10 form part of the dossier?
11 A. Several, but, I mean,that was constant traffic so over
12 the previous three years we had supplied dozens of
4.3 reports to the FBI, with company numbers on like this,
14 on different issues, your Lordship.
15 Q. Well, doubtless these were the ones they got within the
16 material, period. But the point 1'm making to you is
17 this, Mr Steele: FBI records show that they hadn't
18 received 112 from you?
15 A. Thatis true, yes.
20 Q. Theyhaverecords. Youdon't.
21 A Yes, correct, but I stll find it mysterious because
22 I do not see, your Lordship, why I would not have
23 supplied, after I had agreed to do so, four reports,
24 which were pretty seriously at the heart of this
25 investigation .
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¥es. Butnot this one?

Yeah, I would agree -- I would argue it was.

Yousay that this wasat the heart of the investigation?
Well, the Alfa -- Trump Tower-Alfa Bank server story,
they were investigating .

Which isn't mentioned in the report?

No, but it's relevant -- this is relevant to that.

In your witness statement you say -- look at [C/4/9],
please, paragraph43. Youre talking about the FBI
requesting them to provide the reports.

Yes.

And we have looked at this paragraph before.

Mm hmm.

The content included likely -- I took youto the words
" likely disclosed™:

"The content of CR112 was subsequently discussed
‘with the FBI, and they considered it relevant to their
investigatory work”

The reference there is to (D/71/7), if we canturn
that up. That's not a meeting with the FBI at all.
No, but my understanding is that the FBI and the
State Department were discussing this information, this
dossler from the get-go and that my understanding was
that even for the July meeting, your Lordship, when the
FBI officer came to London to meet me, he had cleared
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his lines with Victorla Nuland, the Assistant Secretary
of State, before he did that.

Well, one thing we can agree on, Mr Steele, I think, is
that this note provides no support whatever for the
statement in your witness statement that the FBI
considered CR112 relevant to their work; correct?

I don’t accept that, as [ have said, your Lordship.
‘Which part of this note supports that statement,

Mr Steele?

I don't know whether the note does, but whatI'm saying
is it was clear to meat the time that the

State Department and FBI were co-ordinating and
discussing the dossler and its implications.

Well, you, in your witness statement, refer to this
document as evidence that the FBI considered this
Memorandum 112 relevant to thelr Investigatory work.
That's false?

1 don't think it is false.

It’s false. This documentdoes not evidence it, does
it?

That document doesn’t provide evidence, but at the
meeting I had with Kathy Kavalee, your Lordship, it was
very clear that FBI and State Department were both
consulting each other and discussing the whole issue of
engagement with us and our Investigation.
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MR JUSTICE WARBY: So your evidence is that you aceept that

A

this document doesn't support this view, but you
maintain that, as a result of a meeting you had with
Kathy Kavalee --

Yes.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: -- it was clear to you that the FBI and

State Department had been discussing Memorandum 112 and
its implications?

And before actually. As I said, your Lordship, even the
first meeting I had with my contact -- our contact that
came into London onJuly 5, I think it was, had had to
seek permission from Victoria Nuland at the

State Department to come to London and engage.

MR TOMLINSON: Mr Steele, you're confusing two entirely

o

distinct things.

First of all, there’s the question of whether the
State Department and the FBI were interested in your
suppesed revelations about the connections between
candidate Trump and Russia.

Mm hmm.

I am notdisputing that they were se interested. Do you
understand?

Sure.

The second thing is: were they interested in
memorandum — which is a completely different thing, did
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they consider Memorandum 112 relevant to their
investigatory work? Do you understand me?

My understanding was that Kathy Kavalee, who ralsed

I think the Alfa issue with us in this meeting

in October, had been closely co-ordinating with the FBI
and the FBI knew that we were having the meeting and so
on and so forth and that they were jointly working on
this material.

So Is the answer to my question that the FBI did not
consider 112 relevant to their investigatory work?

1 don't agree with that.

Because we know that the FBI, putting it neutrally, had
no record whatever of having received this memorandum
from you; correct?

Yes.

There's no mention of the memorandum in this note with
the State Department; correct?

Well, there's no reference to the memorandum, but the
issue was discussed with them.

No, no. Theissue in the memcrandum is the issue of the
supposed close connections between the claimants --

Yes.

-- and President Putin.

Yes.

There's no evidence that that issue was discussed with
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either the FBI or Kathy Kavalee, is there?

Not from the writer, but there was also the discussions
1 had with John Weiner, who was involved in this
meeting, in which these things were definitely
discussed.

That’s something else that doesn’t appearin your
witness statement?

John Weiner was at the meeting with Kathy Kavalee.
Something else that does not appear in your witness
statement; correct, Mr Steele?

And nor does the meeting with Kathy Kavalec, I don't
think.

Well, it does, but misidentified as a meeting with the
FBL

It was Kathy Kavalec, acting on FBI instructions .

You understand that that’s not whatis said in the
Inspector General's report about it?

It may not be, but that was my understanding at the time
was that there was close co-ordination between
Victoria Nuland and Kathy Kavaler and the FBI on these
issues,

‘You appear to have misled the State Department about the
nature of your instruction. If youlook at the first
paragraph (D/71/1). (Pause)

In what regard?
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‘Well, that's not accurate, is it?
Whatisn't accurate?
. undertook the investigation at the behest of an
institution he declined to identify that had been
hacked.”

That's not true?
Well, Perkins Ceie's client was the DNC.
Youdidn't know that?
I had assumed it was the Democratic Party and the
campaign. In fact, John Podesta’s emails had been
hacked as well.
"The Institution approached them based on the
recommendation of Glenn Simpson and Peter Fritsch .."

That's not true?
That seems very muddled to me.
And then there's this, yousee. MrSteele, this really
gives the game away as to the purpose of all this:

".. Is keento see this information come to light
prior to November 8

What was happening on 8 November?
There's the US election.
Precisely. You told the State Department that your
client was keen to see this information come to light
before the election; correct?
I'm not sure.
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Do you think the State Department has made it up?

I think there are errors in this account. as I have said
before, from Kathy Kavalec and I don't have a lot of
confidence In some of the detall in her account.

You see, that's the truth, isn’t it? Your client --
your ultimate client -- as you have said, it's the
Democratic Party institution and you assumed it might be
the Democratic National Committee -- was keen to have
this information come to light prior to the date of the
US presidential election, but perfectly understandably?
But why would I be taking it to the State Department
then, if that were the case?

Because you were hoping that the State Department --
nobody was listening to you, Mr Steele, so you were
hoping that the State Department might take some public
action which would bring this Information Into the
public demain.

1 don't agree. You say no one was listening to me. The
FBI had sent four agents to a European capital to meet
me in October and to fully debrief me on things that we
had been --

Yes, to ask you whether you could actually provide some
proper evidence, which you were unable to do?

No, it was far more than that, invelving things like
offering to pay for the resertlement of our sub-sources
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from Russia, which is a very serious undertaking,

¥es. The FBI were asking -- at one point I think you
sarcastically said to them, "Oh, well, perhaps you'd
like me to arrange for you to meet with the hotel
manager so he can tell you aboutthe prostitutes™?

That wasn't frivolous. The hotel manager was outside of
Russia by that time and that was a serious proposal.
The FBI were asking you to provide some evidence to back
up what you were saying, weren't they?

No, the FBI were actually trying to get us to pump and
pressure our network of sources to produce more
information and even te go as far as offering to
resettle, which is a large undertaking, our sub-sources,
your Lordship, from Russia.

When you met the FBI in October, you told them that the
ultimate clients were people seeking to prevent

Donald Trump from becoming president?

Yes. Well, obviously if you're an election oppenent,
that is whatyouare trying to do.

So, in other words, to use the information for

a polideal purpose?

No, I don't agree with that.

I see. Preventing Donald Trump becoming presidentis
not a political purpose, is that’s your evidence?

There Is no evidence that the client ever used any of

94

W =1 s W

@ ~1 oUW

[ N N I e =l e S N S S S
U WK O WD U s W oW

the memoranda and the information, your Lordship, into
the public domain,

Q. Well, MrSteele -- I'msorry, Mr Steele, the position is
that you and Mr Simpson, on the Instructions of the
client, conducted a number of media briefings, trying to
get this material into the public domain?

A, No, wewere briefing them on the general cutlines of the
material for further investigation. We were notsaying,
"Here's a memo. Can you please put it in the public
domain”

Q. That wasn't my question.

We were giving them background briefings off the record.

Q. Well, you knew they were going to be published because

they were published in Yahoo News and Mother Jones?

I didn't know it was going to be published.

Q. Once It had beenin Yahoo News, you must have realised
the next time you gave a briefing it was likely to come

=

>

out?
A. It was certalnly -- well, it was possible, but it was
supposed to be off the record.
Q. Just lock at 70.1, please --
If T can come back to that, your Lordship. My
understanding of the Yahoo News article relied upon

&

a source within the Department of Justice .
MR JUSTICE WARBY: Iam just trying to understand what
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you're doing talking to journalists when you don't
intend publication. That's what they do.

A. Yes. I would differentate, your Lordship, between
publication of the memos and raising issues that came
from the memos with journalists off the record. There
was never any intention for any of the memos to be
either handed toa journalist, showntoa journalist or
published by a journalist .

MR TOMLINSON: I'll come on to that questicn in a mement,
Mr Steele, but I just wantto establish what the purpose
of all this was.

If youleok at (D/70.1/1], please. This is your
note of your meeting with the FBI in Rome that we were
talking abouta littde earlier.

A, Yeah.

Q. Although yousaid that the FBI were very interested, as

of Octoberthey are saying that they're late into the

case, but at 2(li ), so about halfway down:

"FBI accepted they were late into the case and that
we had other commitments and confidences with our
eriginal US client which they could not ask us te medify
or suspend. Also, although I identified Glenn Simpson
of GPS Fusion as the intermediary, they did not press me
to Identify our ultimate client/s. The form of words GS
uses with contacts ('people seeking to prevent
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Donald Trump becoming president’) sufficed.”

Mm hmm.

Yes?

Yeah.

That was the purpose of your work, to prevent

Donald Trump from becoming president?

By definition, an opposing candidate in their campaign
was seeking to win an election.

Yes, thank you.

You attended -- 1 think we have already discussed
that you attended meetings with journalists and then
‘with -+ we discussed it yesterday. Also I think you
attended meetings with news networks as well.

Sorry, can you specify?

I think NBC, CNN?

NEBC, no, not NBC and not --

Well, Mr Simpson gave evidence about all this to the
Senate Judiciary Committee. It's probably not necessary
to go through It, but Mr Simpson, himself, accepted that
one of the purposes of the gathering of the information
was that it might be useful to the press. Doyouagree
with that?

I think the general outlines and the lead information,
possibly, yes. One of the purposes, not the cnly
purpose,
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You ensured -- 1 don’t think you actually gave the
memoranda to Mr Kramer, but you arranged for Fusion to
give copies to him?
That's right. At his request, and at Senator McCain’s
request.
But he wasa private individual. Hehad the memoranda
and you didn't place him under any constraint as to the
uses he could put them to, did you?
We possibly should have dene, but he was coming,
your Lordship, as the emissary of Senator McCain, as
explicitly said to Sir Andrew Wood in Halifax.
Nova Scotia.
He provided a copy to the Washington Post, didn't he?
So it would appear from his witness statement in the
Florida BuzzFeed case, yes.
And he told you he had done it?
No, he didn't.
Lookat (D/110/15), please. This is whatyou're
referring to. It's his deposition in a case I can now
use the name correctly, Mr Gubarev v BuzzFeed.
Yes, In Florida.
He's given evidence there under oath. If youlook at
page 55, line 20:

"And did Mr Steele know that you were going to be
providing a [copy] of The Memo to The Washington Post?
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“Answer: Yes."

Do you see that?
Yes. I disagree with that. I knew he was talking to
the Washington Post. I did not know he was going to
provide copies of the memos to the Washington Post and,
your Lordship, would not have agreed to that.
Then you telephoned him around Christmas, on
Christmas Day --
Christmas Eve, I think.
I think he thinks It's Christmas Day, but I'm sure It
doesn't matter.
I think, again, another mistake in his deposition, I'm
afraid.
I think he says around Christmas. You specifically
asked him to meet with Mr Ken Bensinger, if that's how
you pronounce his name, at BuzzFeed, didn't you?
Yeah. He had told me that Mr Bensinger was pestering
him and was demanding to see him and meet him. And
I simply suggested that he should meet Mr Bensinger,
find out what he was -- where he was coming from, what
he might know and report back to me,
If youlook just at the next page, page (D/110/16).
Page 58 of the transcript, line 8 onwards.
Right.
"You said that Mr Steele ask that you meet with someone

99

at BuzzFeed;is that correct?

"Answer: That is correct.

“Question: Did he specify an Individual at BuzzFeed?

"Answer: Hedid.

“Question: And who was that individual?

“Answer: Ken Bensinger.

"Question: And did you meet with Mr Bensinger?

“Answer: I did*

Yeah.
If youlook on the next page, page 60 -- sorry, page 59,
line 10:

“When did Mr Steele make this suggestion to you?

"Answer: It was either Christmas Day -- excuse me,
Christmas Day or right around there, right around that
holiday.

"Question: Was this in a telephone conversation?”

Then if youlook at line 18 cnwards:

“He Indicated .. MrBensinger had been in touch
with him ... he vouched for Mr Bensinger saying that he
had worked with him and BuzzFeed in the FIFA
investigation .. was very trustworthy and
professional .."

And he couldn't talk to himin London.

Mm hmm,
Had you worked with Mr Bensinger on the FIFA
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1 investigation? 1 A It wasa clear understanding, when Mr Kramer took the
2 A, Hewaswriting a book, your Lordship, on FIFA and had 2 memoranda off Mr Simpson, that he was not to divulge the
3 approached me the previous summer, 2016, and then had 3 memoranda 1o anybody, other than Senator McCain and his
4 travelled through London,I think, the previous summer, 4 ald, and then other people if Senator McCain requested
5 as part of his research and I had agreed to help him 5 it.

6 with his research on FIFA. 6 Q. What do you mean by “clear understanding™?
7 Q. So MrKramer has that right? 7 A. 1 hadtold him that he would need to seek permission to
8 A, Well, whartright, sorry? 8 discuss it with other people and he did that. He came
S Q. Thatyou told him that Mr Bensinger had -- you had 9 1o me, your Lordship, when he was proposing --
10 worked with Mr Bensinger in relation to FIFA? 10 Senator McCain apparently asked him to go and see
1 A Yes. 11 Celeste Wallander in the White House and
12 Q. Soyouwere-- is it your evidence that Mr Kramer asked 12 Victoria Nuland, I believe, in the State Department, and
13 you to meet Mr Bensinger, rather than the cther way 13 he -- MrKramer contacted me before doing so to ask my
14 around? 14 permission as to whether he could do that.
15 A, Hebroughtit to myattention that Mr Eensinger was 15 Q. Yousee, the true position is this, Mr5Steele, isn't it,
16 pestering him and demanding a meeting. 16 that you were very keen for this information to come out
17 Q. Andyoutold him it wasa good idea? 17 because you thought that this was a serious threat to
18 A. I said, "I think youneedto see whathe's -- where he's 18 the US because of the influence of Russia over
19 coming from, what he knows, what he's dolng”. 19 president -- by this time President Trump, didn’t you?
20 Q. Andit's obvious, MrSteele, isn't it, that if youare 20 A I wanted the US Government to investigate it properly
21 meeting with a serious journalist andyouare telling 21 and thoroughly and I wanted the US mediato investigate
22 them very serious allegations, they are going to say to 22 the maln leads that came outof the investigation --
23 you, "Do you have any documents to back this up*? 23 Q. Wel --
24 A. 1 wasn't expecting him to be discussing the 24 A. -- suchas the hacking, such as the contacts between
25 investigation or the memos with Mr Bensinger. 25 members of the campaign and Russian officials and so on.
101 103
1 Q. Whynot? 1 Q. Youwerekeenfor all this to come outand the way for
2 A, I simply expected him to find out what Mr Bensinger, 2 it to comeoutis for these memoranda to be shown to
3 where he was coming from, what he was doing, what he 3 journalists, isn't it? It's obvious, Mr Steele.
4 knew, what he wanted to know and to report back, 4 A, That's not true. That was never the case and we never
LS your Lordship, afterwards, because I was worried that he 5 did it.
& might know something about the investigation. 6 Q. Younever -- youknew full well that when Mr Kramer was
7 Q. Why wereyou suddenly so coy about it? You had been 7 meeting with BuzzFeed that he was golng to -- he was
8 briefing journalists for months. Why are you suddenly 8 likely to be showing them the memoranda with the
9 coy about Mr Bensinger briefing Mr Kramer? 9 consequent risk that they were going to publish
10 A. Becausel suspect -- I feared that Mr Bensinger knew 10 something - either the memoranda or something based on
11 about the memoranda and the dossierand so on and was 11 them?
12 trying to find out more about them. 12 A Absolutely not. In fact, whenIasked Mr Bensinger,
13 Q. Well, as a proper journalist that is exactly whatyou 15 after the leak, your Lordship, to BuzzFeed, whether he
14 would expect him to do, isn’t it? 14 had shown Mr any of the da or given
15 A. 1 don't know how he knew about it though in the first 15 them the memoranda, he lied to me and he admits that in
16 place. 16 his witness statement here. Hesaid he hadn't
17 Q. Buteverybody knew about them because you had been 17 basically, even though he had.
18 briefing about -- you and Mr Simpson had been briefing L MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, I have no further questions.
19 any journalist who would listen to you for months on 19 1 would say this is superbly timed but -- ah .. (Pause)
20 end, hadn't you, Mr Steele? 20 MR]JUSTICE WARBY: We have possibly two outstanding
21 A. Wehadbriefed a small number of journalists off the 21 questions that you wanted.
22 record about the general themes, your Lordship, n the 22 MR TOMLINSON: Ithink there are four, I'mtold.
23 memoranda. 23 MRJUSTICE WARBY: The list has grown. We had probably
24 Q. Youdidn't say to MrKramer, "Well, don't show him the 24 better deal with that at 2 o'clock.
25 memoranda. Don't give him copies”, did you? 25 Is there golng 1o be any re-examination, subject to
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the next phase?

MR MILLAR: Five questions.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: We'll deal with that 2 o"clock.

(1.00 pm)

(The luncheon adjournment)

(2.00 pm)

Procedural discussion

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes, well, for the record, I think there
are things that we all know that probably should be said
now.

Since we parted, I learn, Mr Steele has been told
that his wife is unwell with Covid-19.

MR MILLAR: It's not that clear-cut. She wastakento
hospital after he left her this morning. She was taken
in an ambulance te Frimley Park Hospital.

MR CHRISTOPHER STEELE: I can't hear this.

MR MILLAR: She was taken in an ambulance to Frimley Park
Hospital with breathing difficulties . Sheis, as
I understand it from my cllent, in isclatlon, has been
tested for Covid-19. There is no test result yet, but
she remains in isolation .

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Right. And Mr Steele himself has been
advised about this? Not legally advised but medically
advised; is that right?

MR MILLAR: No. He's been advised by the court that the
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appropriate procedure -- the RCJ procedure --

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Ah.

MR MILLAR: He was Initlally advised -- we were advised, my
Junior was advised -- that he was supposed to leave the
court.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Right.

MR MILLAR: Step 1In the protocol. I don’t know on what
basis that is said, so wesaid --

MR CHRISTOPHER STEELE: I can't hear this feed, 1" m afraid.

MR MILLAR: So we said that Mr Steele is in the middle of
giving evidence, technically he has to be discharged by
the judge if he is going to leave the building, and
there was then supposed to be an arrangement which would
have a conference room or somerhing that he could sit
in, but that never materialised, so your Lordship kindly
offered --

MR JUSTICE WARBY: At the moment he is in court 75, which is
right next door. Canyouhear me now, Mr Steele?

MR CHRISTOPHER STEELE: I can't hear you, I'm sorry.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Right.

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, there seems to be some confusion
because your Lordship will remember on the first day
Mr Steele had had some close exposure, namely to his
business partner, who had shown symptoms and was
self - Isolating . I think both sides looked into the
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guidance and the guidance said that If you're exposed to
someone but you're showing ne symptoms, you don't have
to self-isolate .

Now, my Lord, as far as I understand it, the
guidance hasn't changed. So although Mr-- poor
Mr Steele has had the unfortunate experience of (a)
being exposed to his business partner, whois showing
symptoms, and then (b) his wife showing symptoms, at the
moment, as he has no symptoms, there’s no need for any
isolation steps to be taken.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Well, that wasn't my understanding.

1 thought that the point was about the time at which you
had exposure, In other words whether the person to whom
you were exposed themselves had symptoms at the time you
were in their company.

MR TOMLINSON: WhenI--Idon'thave it here, but we--
because of this issue arising -- I may have it here --
on Monday, we actually -- I think I do have it here, the
guldance produced by the government, The
government's -- I think Mr Millar made the point to
your Lordship on Monday morning that the guidance says
that If you ..

Ah, well, it mayhave-- we're just checking now
whether it has changed, but certainly as of Monday the
guidance was you only had to self - isolate if you were
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showing symptoms.

MR CHRISTOPHER STEELE: I'm still having difficulty hearing
this.

MR TOMLINSON: Ah, there's new guldance. (Pause)

Yes, myLord. So the new guidance says that you
should stay at home for 14 days if somecne in your
househeld has symptems.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes. That's what] thought. Se, onthe
basis of that guidance, then whatever label one calls
it, self-isolation or whatever, Mr Steele should be
separating himself from the general public and staying
at home, on the grounds that at the moment it seems that
his wife may have symptems of Covid-19. We don't have
the diagnosis.

MR TOMLINSON: Yes.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Now, you have four questions that you
provisionally wanted answered that hadn't been answered
vet,

MR TOMLINSON: Yes.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: And Mr Millar said he had five questions
in re-examination.

MR TOMLINSON: Yes.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: What, Mr Tomlinson, do you want to do in
the light of the current situation? Press on?

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, I think In the light of the current
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situation, It is probably sensible for me to not take up
any more time in relation to that,

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Mr Millar?

MRMILLAR: Iwouldn't say any of the questions I was going
to ask in re-examination are central to the case. So
1"m happy to adept that positien.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes. Well, what] think I'll do is
I will release Mr Steele, unless there’s an
application -- I amseeinga shaking head from behind
you, Mr Tomlinsomn.

MS SJBVOLL: Oh, sorry, 1 was saying --

MR JUSTICE WARBY: It wasn't out of disagreement with what
I was saying. That's reassuring.

MR TOMLINSON: No, the point was that Ms Sjovoll was simply
concerned that Mr Steele couldn’t hear what
your Lordship was saying.

MR CHRISTOPHER STEELE: Yes,Ican't.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Well, I'll get the court clerk to tell
youin a moment.

He won't have long to wait. I will release himand
I will give a short ruling on whatI would have said,
whatI provisionally would have said on the four
questicns, but I think we can deal with that separately
because he can go.

MR TOMLINSON: Yes.
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So, Mr Steele, the court clerk will -- youare going
1o be released and the court clerk will come and let you
go formally in one minute's time.

MR CHRISTOPHER STEELE: Okay. Thank you.

Thank you, your Lordship.

MRMILLAR: He obviously is very concerned.

MR TOMLINSON: Yes, we all are.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes. One of the factors that has led me
to slightly promptyou tonot press on further is the
obvious and natural distress that Mr Steele must be
feeling --

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, absolutely so.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: -- at learning this somewhat incomplete
version of wharhis wife's current position is.

MR TOMLINSON: No, it is obvicusly something that he will
want to go and deal with as soon as he possible can.
MR JUSTICE WARBY: Let's just wait until the clerk returns,

having made sure that that's happened.

(Pause)

Now, Mr Tomlinson, I know the clerk is not back,
whatI'd like to hear from you are what the four
questions are that you would have asked and, in relation
to what] think is the first one, whichis details of
that part of Mr Steele”s career which you suggested was
spent training, how you say it should be approached,
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because you made the point to him that there was no
lawful basis on which he could withhold that
information. If there are any other questions?

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, subject to your Lordship’s views,
I'mnotsure that it is necessary to pursueany of this
now because, as Mr Millar said in relation to his
re-cxamination, I don't think any of it Is
case-changing.

The position, as I understand it, under the Official
Secrets Act, is that that covers only the disclosure of
information about national security matters, not
information about Civil Service careers in whatever
department. And there were some questions about his
sources, But, my Lord, as I"m not going to put the
questions to the witness now, I am notasking
your Lordship to make any ruling about any of them.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Well, the only reason I was -- well, two
reasons really why1 had it in mind to rule on it now.
Onels it Is fresh in mymind and It gets part of the
reasoning process out of the way; and the other is in
case it was going to be suggested later on that the
refusal to answer the question had some implications for
the way in which I should approach the evidence,

If T rule now, or having heard any further argument,
or determined later, that the question was not
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sufficlently importantto the pursuit of Justice in the
case to justify the Intrusion into confidentiality that
it ‘would involve, then you couldn’t invite me to draw
any adverse Inferences from his refusal to answer it,
but if I took another view, you might.

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, in relation to that, his -- 1 amnot
going to ask you to draw any adverse inferences from
his, I would say, unjustified refusal to give a proper
explanation as to his Civil Service career. In relation
to his sources, I will say, generally, not in respect of
those four questions that he refused to answer, but
I will say generally that bearing in mind -- and this is
a point your Lordship made yesterday, and I apologise
for misrepresenting the way that Mr Millar put it in
submissions yesterday. Your Lordship said in the
absence of an established privilege, the position Is
somewhat different from the position that weflnd in --
the famillar position in relation to journalists. I am
entitled to say if someoneis trying to show that they
have taken reasonable care, the fact that they don't
give details that would back that up about the nature of
their sources is a factor the court can take into
account, but that's as far as I'mgolngto go. I'mnot
going to say: and, in particular, the fact he refused to
say -- as he did -- what country his source was located
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In s an additional factor that the court should take
into asked.

So, my Lord, in relation to those, 1'm not proposing
to put any forensic weight on the fallure to answer any
of those specific questions. Subject to anything
your Lordship says, 1 don't think it would be, certainly
from my point of view, necessary for your Lordship to
rule on any of those issues.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Mr Millar, do you disagree with that,
given what has been said?

MR MILLAR: No,I think my learned friend is entitled to
say, by way of comment, whatever he wants to say about
the question -- each question and answer. We have them
on the record. He can comment on that. The judicial
role then will be, as it always is, to decide what value
that argument and that comment has In the greater scheme
of things.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Right. Well, then, I don't need 1o say
anything about it now.

Housekeeping

What remains is just to agree the case management
for the next stage, whichat the moment is we start at
10 o’clock tomorrow. Is that agreed?

MR TOMLINSON: My Lord, I'm not sure it was agreed.

MR MILLAR: Ithink it wasan indication from the court last

113
week.
MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes. My clerk indicated that I needto
be away by 4.00.

MR TOMLINSON: Ah.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Therefore

MR TOMLINSON: I had -- that had passed me by or popped out
of my mind.

My Lord, obviously there are two questions. The
first is when written closing submissions should be
lodged and then the second Is when we commence oral
argument about those written closing submissions.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Right. So what --

MRMILLAR: And the third question is whether we cap the
time for those oral submissions.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes, We have a four-day time estimate.

1 don't see any reason not to stick to that.

MR TOMLINSON: No.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: In fact, there's every reason to stick to
it in the usual way.

So what's your proposal?

MR TOMLINSON: Sorry, there's another question that arises
as to -- in terms of order of closing, whether westick
to the old version, If I can put it that way, claimant
goes last, or whether we stick to the modern version,
which is claimant goes first and has a right of reply?
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MR JUSTICE WARBY: I am accustomed to the old version.

MRMILLAR: You are accustomed to the old version?

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes,butl don't really mind.

MR MILLAR: I have had both.

MR TOMLINSON: Exactly, so have L.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Usually, I mean, the old version is if
the defendant calls evidence, the claimant gets the last
word. That's the --

MR TOMLINSON: Yes, that's the rule from jury trials going
back to --

MRMILLAR: Iam happytogo first, if we are knocking the
issue around and asking what people’s positions are.
I'mhappy to go first.

MR TOMLINSON: I'm happy to do it either way, but whatever
your Lordship would find most helpful.

MR MILLAR: Yes.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: 1think I would like Mr Tomlinson to go
first, please, and then youhave a right of reply.

MR TOMLINSON: Yes.

MR MILLAR: Yes.

MR TOMLINSON: Then we need a timetable for that.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes. Well, that gives us five hoursin
the usual way, doesn't it, with some breaks to take out
of that? Let's say that gives us four and a half hours
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in total.

MR TOMLINSON: Two hours each and half an hour reply.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Two hours each and half an half for
reply.

MR MILLAR: Yes, that's fine.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: So we'll start at 10.00. The guillotine
will come down at midday and Mr Millar will have an hour
before and an hour after lunch or -- then we'll have to
make an allowance for the ten or 15 minutes of break in
the morning, or thereabouts, and we'll finish with half
an hour, starting at 3.20 for you, Mr Tomlinson.

MR TOMLINSON: I was going to say, yes, if we-- if we--

MR JUSTICE WARBY: [was not allewing for the breaks.

MR TOMLINSON; Yes. So,in other words, finish at 12.30, if
the breaks are 15 minutes each or ten.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes, we'll lock for a convenlent moment
to ensure that the shorthand writers don't get
exhausted.

MRMILLAR: Ican work withina little less than two hours,
I"msure.

MR JUSTICE WARBY: Yes,

As far as written closings are concerned, I'm not
going to impose a timetable. The sooner you get them to
me the sooner I" Il read them, but there’s always
a balance to be struck berween speed and quality,

116

Opus 2 International
Official Court Reporters

transcripts@opus2.com
-+44 (0)20 3008 5900



March 18, 2020

Petr Aven, Mikhail Fridman and [...] Business Intelligence Limited

Day 3

1 although I expeet the qualify to be excellent on both 119
2 sides, and I will leave it to you, unless you wantme to
3 impose a timetable for exchange.
4 MR TOMLINSON: Notnecessarily impose a timetable, but, in
5 an ideal world, when would your Lordship like to start
6 reading them tomorrow morning?
7 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Well, we're notin an ideal world so
8 I won't answer that question. 1 can start reading at
k] 8 o'clock in the morning if you really wantto get them
10 to me then, or ronight.
11 MR TOMLINSON: Ithink tenightis probably --
12 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Ithought it might be.
13 MR TOMLINSON: Idid say the ideal world tomorrow morning.
14 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Tknow.
15 MRMILLAR: We can exchange between 8.00 and 9.00 and get
16 them to you as soon as possible.
17 MRTOMLINSON: Yes, before 9.00 is whatwe'll aim for.
18 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Before 9.00, yes.
19 MRTOMLINSON: Thank youw.
20 MRJUSTICE WARBY: Thank you very much. Right. 10 o'clock.
21 (220 pm)
22 (The court adjourned until 10.00 am
23 on Thursday, 19 March 2020)
24
25
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